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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The global economic downturn, catalyzed by the fifth wave of COVID-19
pandemic, and heightened geopolitical tensions have weighed heavily on
the recovery of regional economy and has inevitably affected the Group’s
performance. In face of the challenging circumstances, the Group has
remained resilient and has continued its efforts to integrate and transform
its convergence media business. In addition, the Group has also engaged
in active collaborations with major international and mainland iron ore
and steel mill players to implement the iron ore dry grinding and dry
beneficiation technologies (the “DGDB Technologies”) in order to achieve
its long-term strategic initiatives.

The Group has strengthened its multi-media technologies and convergence
media business by allocating more resources to the convergence media and
e-commerce business. The Group has gradually expanded into e-commerce,
music key opinion leader(s) ("KOL(s)"), live streaming channels and also
music talents and IP incubation while deploying resources to build up in
house professional team of convergence media and e-commerce KOLs.
Despite the volatile economic environment, the Group has also focused
to capture its technology advancements in the DGDB Technologies.
The Group has established close business collaborations with various
technology partners and iron ore or steel mill players so as to accelerate

the technology and business development of the DGDB Technologies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

For the year under review, the Company has also completed a series of
fund raising and restructuring initiatives to enhance its capital structure,
namely, i) issue of convertible bonds under general mandate, with an
aggregate net proceeds of approximately HK$11.945 million; ii) issue
of new Shares under general mandate, with an aggregate net proceeds
of approximately HK$6.97 million; and iii) debt settlement with Yulong
Computer Telecommunication Scientific (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., with an
aggregate amount of RMB80,000,000 (the “Claimed Amount”) by issuance
of convertible bonds and disposal of partial equity interest of a subsidiary.
These fund raising and debt restructuring activities have improved the
Group's financial position and provided more buffer to cope with the
economic uncertainties and challenges in the future. The Group will
continue its restructuring initiatives to improve its debt repayment profile.
We will also carefully review and explore financing of potential strategic
capital investments to maintain a sustainable growth and create value for
shareholders in the long term.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s revenue from operation
was approximately HK$53,598,000, as compared to HK$74,552,000 in
the same period last year. The gross profit of the Company decreased
to HK$6,938,000, compared to HK$15,362,000 for the same period of
last year. The decrease in gross profit was due to reduced revenues from
train media advertising business while the license fee for the train media
platform was a fixed cost. The Company recorded a loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$24,273,000 for the
year, as compared to a gain of approximately HK$96,614,000 for the
corresponding period of last year. It was mainly due to (i) the one-off gain
of HK$156,057,000 on disposal and deconsolidation of subsidiaries which
was included in the previous year; (ii) the impairment of goodwill of train
media cash generating unit (the “Train Media CGU") in the amount of
approximately HK$48,000,000, which resulted from the management’s
decision to terminate the agreement for the Group to provide train media
advertising agency services at the end of December 2022; and (iii) the gain
on extinguishment of financial liabilities of approximately HK$57,000,000
arising from the settlement of a part of the Claimed Amount by issuance
of convertible bonds.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEENwWE D (&)

KOL promotion event for a car brand

B M KOLE EE T

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Multi-media Technologies and Convergence Media Business

The multi-media technologies and convergence media business recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$53,598,000 for the year ended 31 March
2023 representing a year-on-year decrease of 25.9% (2022: approximately
HK$72,353,000). To ride out the challenging business environment, the
Group has collaborated with media resource owners and advertisers
to create new opportunities both in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
Furthermore, we have taken some initiatives to reallocate the Group's
resources to transform our media business from conventional outdoor
media to online advertising, marketing and brand management, KOL

management and selective direct e-commerce.

The Group has also built up our professional team of convergence
media e-commerce business to provide full fledged client service from
brand building marketing to online sales conversion. This is conducted
through a combination of social media and e-commerce platform for
online marketing by actively managing client’s social media accounts,
KOL marketing promotion and live streaming e-commerce channel. Our
team works to optimize brand potentials and stimulate sales for our
clients. The customers’ products will be introduced at the well-known
e-commerce platform, such as Feihe Xingma Club (TR#8 2 58 1%) ,
which can effectively increase sales and brand awareness for the products.
E-commerce has become the market trend and one of our business focuses
as well. Our current business partners range from brands of skin care, hair
care and personal care products to other consumer products.

6 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

/

¥%EE(E)

SHEEBRMRMEEER
BHE-Z-=F=-A=+—HLFE ZEBEEN
Nl iE a8 ¥ 515 U A 4953,598,0008 T (—ZF ==
1 4972,353,0008 L) - B E R IEF M 2 25.9%
BEHARUAENETRE ASECHEBER
FREEEAE EPEAMEESAIEFNKE-
N BHERIRE TREEFSEAEENER -
HEREEBEBRERPINEEEA AR LES ZH
M EE KOLEEREEEESR-

AEENCREVEENREBEFHEL  REFRE
T mERREHI G LHEB N2 TR
HAEARTEBEREREEPMLRREIIRS KOLE
HHENEEERAE AL RERBRER
FERETREEH BRMANERRNELREEN
TRBEFPHHE - TPHNERSNREZIBEE
EMZEBTEBEL BREARRSERNEE
FmEAEE EHELRATSHBE  TERM
MEBEH - HMBEINEBAERHEESR
EEE #ENEAEREMMEAZEMBER-



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Multi-media Technologies and Convergence Media Business (continued)
In late 2022, the capital injection into KeMeng (Changzhou) Culture &
Media Limited (“KeMeng"”) by the Company was completed. The Group
now possesses the expertise in the live streaming content production and
operation on multi-channel networks and has strong connection with the
e-commerce key-opinion-leader teams which will create synergies with the
existing convergence media business of the Group. Through the subsidiary
of KeMeng, the Group has also built up our own professional team of
music KOL(s) or music talents. The Group works with local developers to
bring cultural contents through various music events to their commercial
complex to maximize traffic and length of stay.
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The Group has established business collaborations with other multi-media
advertising platform operators in relation to the right on listing multi-
media contents on building walls in Mainland China. The Group also
designs multi-media contents and displays the contents using LED on the
whole exterior of commercial buildings. During the year under review, the
Group has expanded its display media platform business in Hong Kong,
including outdoor billboard and LED TV. To enrich our services, the Group
has offered different kinds of convergence media service to our clients
including print and digital advertising.
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The Group has put a lot of efforts and resources in building the
convergence media business to today's scale to further capture the
opportunities arising from the change of global trend in media industry
from traditional advertising to online advertising. The Group believes
that the restructuring and reallocation of resources can improve the
performance of the multi-media technologies and convergence media
business and continue to be one of the key revenue drivers of the Group.

Music KOL Cultural Content
FRKOLXILESEE

Advertisement on LED TV
LEDBERRES
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEENwWE D (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment of goodwill in respect of Train Media CGU

During the year under review, the Group recognised an impairment
of goodwill in respect of the Train Media CGU of approximately
HK$47,878,000. Such impairment losses have been made in view of the
carrying amount of goodwill are not recoverable.

The goodwill in respect of the Train Media CGU arose from the acquisition
of 100% equity interests in Hong Kong Made (Media) Limited (“Hong
Kong Made”) and Ample Success Limited (“Ample Success”) in June
2019 and the acquisition of 80% equity interest in Shenzhen ZiJun Media
Company Limited in July 2020. Hong Kong Made and Ample Success
entered into an agreement with a licensor (the “Licensor”) to obtain the
advertising license rights in connection with the Guangzhou-Shenzhou
China Railway High-speed Harmony Series trains (“ R4 F & 5% or the
“GSCR Hexiehao Trains”) (the “Advertising License Rights”) and were the
exclusive agents in connection with the advertising agency services and

related production services for GSCR Hexiehao Trains.

In early November 2022, the Licensor has breached certain terms of the
advertising license rights agreement for the period from 1 July 2022 to
30 June 2025 (the "Extended Agreement”) and Hong Kong Made has
commenced legal proceedings against the Licensor and terminated the
Extended Agreement at the end of December 2022. Due to the same
reason, no renewal of the advertising license right in connection with the
PR B #B8 (Guangzhou-Zuhai Intercity Railway) upon the expiry on 31
December 2022.

The Group decided to put more efforts and resources in building the
convergence media business and expected that no future cash flow
would be generated from Train Media CGU. The Company performed
an impairment review and having discussed with the auditor and the
recoverable amount of the Train Media CGU based on the value in use is
assessed to be HK$nil and full impairment of goodwill of approximately
HK$47,878,000, being the carrying forward value of prior year, was
recognised during the year.

8 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

/

¥BEE(E)
EHERERBE S TELEENNBEERE
REEFE AEERESREERSEEEUER
2R B 4947,878,0008 Lo tE B X S BB 1B Ty
EREEZEmMEDTARE-

FHERARRSELASUNBEELABER T
—NERNARBEBEE(EB)ERQA ([FE
EDRBHERRA ([1E])K9100% Bk R
TECZFELARBRINGFEREEERRAFHI80%
ik BERRER B EFATA ([FAIALD R
& ABUS BRSNS RIS E (BRG]
K ERGMERINE ) MEESFAIE ([EEA
) S RERGMGESE & RIRRSE K AEEEAE
R BRAIE -

RZEZZF+—A¥V FAAUAERT =
tA—BE_ZE-_AFXA=+HHEMNESA
Eim#E (EERDBZE]) NE THRK MEBRIER
HFUABFZERFAIR ST - —F+- KK
KERBEZ -ERXRA—RE BEEREKBEEHED
BEHAER_T__F+_A=+—HERET
BEE-

AEBAERAEZENORERELRIEEEL-
TEHHREERCELEUSTEELERRRS
ME-ARARETTRERS LHRZEEMT R R
BERAEENEZEREBReELEN ZAKE
CHEIGEATSET URFAERBEL2EREN
47,878,000 T (B L FEHAEERE) -



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Gamma Ray DGDB Business

The Group's iron ore dry grinding and dry beneficiation business (“DGDB
Business”) is in the investment phase. The total costs which consists
of primarily research and development costs for this business was
approximately HK$11,510,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.

“Actively and steadily promote carbon dioxide peaking and carbon
neutrality” is one of the major highlights proposed in the report of
the 20th Party Congress. To achieve sustainable economic and social
development, the PRC Government advocates improving the efficiency
of energy resources utilization, enhancing the stability, security and
sustainability of energy resources supply, promoting the formation of
a green production and lifestyle, cracking the outstanding problems of
resources and environmental constraints from the source.

With the coming full implementation of Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism
in the EU in 2026, Chinese steel industry is actively upgrading its production
and sourcing requirements to prepare for its compliance in the future. The entire
industry is expected to gradually phase out the direct utilization of high grade
import iron ore to iron concentrate powders and pellets.

At present, about 1 billion tons of iron ore are imported to China every
year, most of which are hematites. Some of which are of slightly lower
content grade and contain higher impurities. It will be challenging to meet
the future energy-saving and emission-reduction industry requirements.
Many of the mining companies are actively seeking for solutions/ways to
process the domestic low-grade magnetite iron ore products to reduce
the nation’s reliance on import iron ores. All these result in the increasing
demand for continuous technologies development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEENwWE D (&)
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The Group is working closely with international iron ore majors to expand

the applications of our DGDB Technologies to hematite iron ore. To
cooperate with our business partners in the mining industry, the Company
has engaged one of the most prominent research institutes in the PRC
to conduct extensive pilot testing. The research includes the analysis of
the main physical and chemical indicators of the specific hematite and
limonite iron ore; the optimal technology set up for roasting, grinding and
beneficiation process; and the continuous integration and enhancement
on the high-efficiency magnetic selection technology with respect to
industrial production in scale. At present, the experiment has reached final
stage and our pilot testing results show that our integrated technology
can effectively deploy DGDB Technologies to hematite iron ores to produce
iron concentrate powders and pellets. This would further expand the
application of our DGDB Technologies to most of the major global iron
ore supplies. The Group is carefully evaluating different cooperation
opportunities with various iron ore and steel mill industry players to further

commence industrial productions.
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Our DGDB Technologies can realize low energy
consumption and anhydrous mineral processing to
achieve environmental protection and energy saving.
It is in line with the national strategic policy guidelines
and development direction of energy conservation,
emission reduction, and carbon neutrality.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Gamma Ray DGDB Business (continued)

The Group is also exploring to widen its beneficiation technology on
tailings recycling. Our current studies have demonstrated that through our
DGDB Technologies, the tailings can be further recycled to produce raw
materials in the commercial concretes and cements manufacturing industry.
With the implementation of this application, further economic values from
recycling can be achieved while resolving the environmental and safety
hazards of conventional tailing dams. The Group is engaging in active
discussions with various commercial concrete producers to optimize their
respective raw material sourcing capabilities while deploying our DGDB
Technologies.

The Group expects our DGDB Technologies can gradually generate

diversified and stable cashflow to the Group in the coming year.
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Opening Ceremony of Hong Kong & Macan - Zhejiang Week & Zhejiang and Hong Kong Cooperation Theme Forum 2023

2023568268 FE- T Junc 26,2023 Hong Kong, China,

Opening Ceremony of Hong Kong of Macao - Zhejiang week &
Zhejiang and Hong Kong Cooperation Theme Forum 2023
202378 AT AR BB B EF S EEEmE

Other Operations - Investment, Securities Trading and Tourism and
Hospitality Business

The Group has been closely monitoring the developments of the
pandemic and will position itself to pursue and capture suitable business
opportunities in its operations and investments in the region as and when
they arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEENwWE D (&)

POTENTIAL RISKS OF THE GROUP
The following risks were identified as the potential risks of the Group
during the year under review:

Change of government policies

Changes in government policies and regulations could impact the Group’s
operations and profitability. The Group needs to monitor and adapt to new
policies in Hong Kong, China and other markets where it operates. For
example, restrictions on advertising or content could impact the Group’s
revenue streams from its convergence media business; and changes in
environmental policies could impact the demand for the Group’'s DGDB

technologies and services.

Economic volatility in the region and the PRC

The Group's business is particularly sensitive to reductions in discretionary
consumer and corporate spending as a result of downturns in the
economy. Changes in discretionary consumer spending could reduce
corporate demand for the multi-media technologies and convergence
media business, thus imposing additional limits on pricing and harming
the business operations of the Company. The actual or perceived economy
performance could adversely impact the multi-media technologies and

convergence media business.

China-U.S. tensions, exacerbated by the Russia-Ukraine conflict has created
a lot of uncertainties and risks on the global and regional economy. If
there is a slowdown in the growth of the China economy, the demand
for mining products will be adversely affected. Hence, the Group’'s DGDB
Technologies application will be impacted. If the trade war continues, it
might materially and adversely impact the Group's business. Moreover, a
decline in global iron ore prices could affect potential customers’ interest
in the Group’s DGDB Technologies too.

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract and retain high-

calibre personnel

Loss of key individuals could result in an adverse impact on the Group's
operation and profitability. The risk of the loss of key personnel is
mitigated by regular reviews of human resource management system,

remuneration packages and succession planning within the management

team.

Cyber and information security risk

Frequency of cyber-attacks like sophisticated phishing campaigns and
ransomware have continuously increased in recent years. The potential
threat of cyber-attacks is increasing. Cyber-attacks may lead to loss of
information, leakage of confidential information, unavailability of systems
and disruption of operation that significant costs may be incurred for
data recovery and system restoration, and/or possible claims. The Group
manages this risk by implementing security measures such as firewall,
antispam and anti-virus protection.

12

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

AEENEERR
REBEFE  AEED AT RRER SRR :

BRERERS
BRI RE R B TR S A R LA
B R EEARRE RS E R G
EEMTISH B I HESRAT RS
THEPEREERARBEBEBORATR: &
R I B O 9 A 8 N PR
BRERYE

HwERFEEETRE
REREREBHEERCEAXRIHRD <
SEXGAEXBE - HEEIXEIHNE(L A
REHEERUZHBRMEBEREROFINL
MMTARAEEEREREN AHARBER
LEENTHE -BERIFARBERRAELGHAR
ANZHEERMEBKEERERTIMNEE -

TEZHENERRY NELBEMESRNER.
RERPBBREETREZ TEERNE KER -
PEEEERNE BHRBEERNTIEXTH
TE AL AEENLEZERMERBX I
- WMEZFEHE WARSHAEENELKENR
BEARNHMZTE WO 2REE A ER T BIR A8
FEEEREPHAEERELERITNEAE -

FARAESRATELZRSIRBREESFAS

MRBABRKAEGHAEENSERANENE
RAMEE -BHABRKOERAEBNA TR
TURE: EHRIANEREERS TEER
X R aR e 7 BN O R S AT AR D -

AHRREERZAR

MER BERNERNBEDLDREFERER
BHARSE LT -BRRENELERE EA @Y
BB EEHERER BBERR-
R KB (R e Al R B BUR IRIE K R
FIMERHATREEZREMEERERR - KE
BEEBERDNE REFBHEERREHES L
2REBERZER -



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

CORPORATE, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment and
giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth. Taking
environmental protection as an example, the development of our
environmentally-friendly DGDB Technologies will have a positive impact on
both energy consumption and carbon emission to the entire steel industry
in the PRC.

An environmental, social and governance (“ESG") report ("ESG Report”)
of the Group will be published separately on the Company’s and Stock
Exchange's website to report the Company's ESG policies and its
compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide as
contained in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March
2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material aspects
with the relevant laws and regulations, that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
BUSINESS PARTNERS

The Group recognises its employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to maintain the sustainable development of the Group. The
Group is committed to building a close and intimate relationship with its
employees, providing quality services and products to its customers, and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

Employees are regarded as one of the vital and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group encourages employees to participate in external
seminars and lectures to keep abreast of changes and to enhance their
knowledge on areas of industrial, legal and compliance. The Group also
encourages continuous professional development training for the Directors
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, which include seminars
on updating regulatory requirement and development, and corporate

governance practices.

The Group also stays connected with its customers and business partners
and has ongoing communication with them through various channels
such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings to obtain their
feedback and suggestions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEENwWE D (&)

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 29 March 2023, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with a subscriber in relation to a subscription of convertible bonds under
specific mandate. On 30 June 2023, all the conditions precedent as set
out in the subscription agreement had been fulfilled and the completion
of the subscription of the convertible bonds took place on 30 June 2023.
For the details of the convertible bonds, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 29 March 2023 and 30 June 2023, and the
Company's circular dated 23 May 2023.

In addition, save as disclosed in Note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other important events took place for the Company after
31 March 2023.

BUSINESS MODEL AND BUSINESS STRATEGY

Diversification is our core business strategy. The Group is committed to
achieving long-term sustainable growth of its businesses in preserving and
enhancing the Shareholders’ value. The Group is focused on looking for
attractive investment opportunities to strengthen and widen its business
scope. The Group has maintained a prudent and disciplined financial
management to ensure its sustainability.

PROSPECTS

The global economic outlook for 2023 remains uncertain and challenging.
Soaring inflation and interest rate hikes, the China-US trade tensions and
the Russia-Ukraine conflict pose serious threats to the recovery of both the

local and world economies.

Nevertheless, pandemic impacts are receding and China’s relaxation of its
COVID prevention policies by the end of 2022 along with a series of economic
stimulus actions could boost market confidence and lead to improvements
in the external environment that benefit business conditions. Followed by
the post pandemic recovery, it is expected that the demand and budget on
marketing and promotion for companies in various industries will slowly
increase. The Group will grasp the opportunities and further develop our
multi-media technologies and convergence media business.

The Chinese steel industry is proactively enhancing its production processes
and sourcing standards in anticipation of complying with the Carbon
Border Adjustment Mechanism that will be fully implemented in the EU by
2026, environmentally-friendly grinding and beneficiation technologies are
indispensable in the mining industry. Our DGDB Technologies experiment
has reached final stage, it is expected that iron ore DGDB Business can
bring stable profit and cash flow for the Group very soon.

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

PROSPECTS (continued)

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to explore potential strategic
investments and cooperation opportunities with an aim of creating
synergies for the Group in various aspects including technological
development, diversifying product portfolio, channel expansion and/or cost
control. The Company is confident that the operations and results of the
Group will improve and the Group will continue to generate value to the
shareholders of the Company in the long run.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$53,598,000 (2022: approximately HK$74,552,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 28.1% compared with last year.
The revenue of multi-media technologies and convergence media business
was approximately HK$53,598,000 (2022: approximately HK$72,353,000),
which has decreased by 25.9%.
due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the economic downturn, the demand

The decrease in revenue was primarily

for outdoor media was greatly reduced in 2022. The loss attributable
to owners of the Company for the year amounted to approximately
HK$24,273,000 (Profit attributable to owners of the Company in 2022:
approximately HK$96,614,000). As at 31 March 2023,
liabilities decreased significantly which was due to the completion of

the contract

contracts relating to Train Media CGU. The total assets and net liabilities
of the Group were approximately HK$63,619,000 and HK$341,101,000
(2022: approximately HK$142,191,000 and HK$363,907,000) respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$7,363,000 (2022: approximately HK$28,493,000), and
the Group had total borrowings of approximately HK$231,901,000 (2022:
approximately HK$221,137,000), of which borrowings of 30.5% was in
Hong Kong dollars and 69.5% was in Renminbi and of which borrowings
repayable within one year was approximately HK$221,474,000 (2022:
approximately HK$221,137,000), accounting for approximately 95.5%
(2022: 100%) of the total borrowings. The gearing ratio, being the ratio
of the sum of total borrowings to total deficit, was approximately 68.0%
as at 31 March 2023 (2022: approximately 60.8%). The liquidity ratio,
being the ratio of current assets over current liabilities, was approximately
12.1% as at 31 March 2023 (2022: approximately 15.2%). The improved
liquidity ratio was due to effective debt restructuring initiatives, including
placing and negotiating debt settlements on favourable terms. The
debt restructuring initiatives also resulted in a significant reduction in
finance costs to approximately HK$10,956,000 (2022: approximately
HK$22,835,000).

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents were mainly denominated in
Renminbi and the Group's borrowings were mainly denominated in
Renminbi. As at 31 March 2023, the Group's other borrowings with fixed
interest rates accounted for approximately 26.0% of total borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEENwWE D (&)

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023, the Group did not pledge any
assets to secure the borrowings granted to the Group.

USE OF PROCEEDS

On 11 November 2022, an aggregate of 120,980,170 subscription Shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.0576 per subscription Share were
allotted and issued under general mandate to five subscribers (namely, Mr.
Wu Zhi Wen Michael, Mr. Chan Kwai Hung, Senfield International Limited,
Silver Moon Consultancy Corporation and Amber Strong International
Limited) pursuant to five subscription agreements all dated 1 November
2022 entered between the Company and each of them, representing
approximately 16.67% of the total number of issued Shares as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of the subscription Shares as at the date of issue
of the subscription Shares. The market price was HK$0.0650 per Share
on the date of the subscription agreements. The aggregate nominal value
of all subscription Shares is HK$1,209,801.70. The net proceeds from the
subscriptions were approximately HK$6.97 million. The net subscription
price for each subscription Share is HK$0.0576. As at 31 March 2023,
the net proceeds from the subscriptions has been fully utilised as general
working capital of the Group as intended, including approximately HK$3
million for the repayment of other payables and other borrowings; and
approximately HK$3.97 million for the overhead expenses of the Group.
For the details of the subscriptions, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 1 November 2022 and 11 November 2022.

For the details of the GM Convertible Bonds issued for cash during
the year under review, please refer to the information disclosed in the
paragraph headed "Equity-linked Agreements” in this annual report.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Details of capital commitments are included in Note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Details of litigations and contingent liabilities are included in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, as at
31 March 2023, there was no other material litigation expected to result
in a significant adverse effect on the financial position of the Group, either
collectively or individually. Management of the Company believes that
adequate provisions have been made in respect of such litigations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE RISK AND INTEREST RATE
RISK

The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi. The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange forward
contracts to hedge against exchange rates fluctuations during the year
under review. Foreign exchange risk arising from the normal course of
operations is considered to be minimal and the management will closely
monitor the fluctuation in the currency and take appropriate actions when
condition arises.

In terms of the interest rate risk exposures, the Group does not have any
significant interest rate risk as the interest rates currently remain at low
levels. As at 31 March 2023, the Group's other borrowings with fixed
interest rates accounted for approximately 26.0% of total borrowings.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
Details of material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries are included in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

EMPLOYEE AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed 89 employees (2022: 62).
During the year ended 31 March 2023, staff costs (including Directors’
emoluments but excluding share-based payments) amounted to
approximately HK$9,297,000 (2022: approximately HK$12,040,000).
Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
terms and individual merits. Salaries are reviewed periodically based on
performance appraisal and other relevant factors. Staff benefits plans
maintained by the Group include medical insurance, hospitalisation
scheme, mandatory provident fund, share option scheme and share award
scheme. Employees in the PRC are remunerated according to the prevailing
market conditions in the locations of their employments.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board, as authorised by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Auditor expressed a disclaimer of opinion in the independent auditor’s
report on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (the “Independent Auditor’s Report”). As stated
in the paragraph headed “BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION" in the
Independent Auditor’s Report, the basis for the auditor to express a
disclaimer of opinion was the existence of material uncertainties relating
to going concern. Additional information in relation to the disclaimer of
opinion regarding the material uncertainties relating to going concern is
provided in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEAEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Yi, aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director on
5 September 2016. Mr. Zhang is also the Chairman of the Board. He
graduated from Zhejiang University in 1994 with a major in Finance. Mr.
Zhang has over 16 years of investment experience in the technology field,
with the scope of investment spanning across various regions including
Canada, the United States of America, Singapore, the Mainland China and
Hong Kong. He is in particular familiar with the investment and operations
of telecommunications and communications industries. Mr. Zhang has good
relations with the telecommunications operators and has accumulated
extensive local and overseas network in the industry. Mr. Zhang is currently
the chairman of a private company in the Mainland China which was
founded by Mr. Zhang in 2002. Under his leadership, the company has
now developed into an enterprise with large investment scale and wide
investment geographical range in real estates, biological medicine, new
energy and media, etc. It has a number of projects including a large-
scale urban complex with a gross area of over a million square meters in

Shanghai, Hangzhou and Shenyang.

As at 31 March 2023, Mr. Zhang is interested in 21,542,750 Shares and
3,721,561 share options (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), and
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.

Ms. Chu Wei Ning, aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director
on 8 July 2015. Ms. Chu is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, an authorised representative of the Company and a director
of various subsidiaries of the Group. She is currently responsible for the
strategic investment and business development of the Company. Ms. Chu
obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in May 1994 and a master degree of Business
Administration from the University of Texas at Austin with Honors in May
1998. She has been a veteran investment banker and venture capital
investment professional with over 16 years of experience. Prior to joining
the Company, Ms. Chu has been a founding member and the managing
director of a private investment fund which focus on investments in
telecommunications, media, and technology. Previously, she also held
various capacities in Bank of China International, Bear Stearns Asia Limited
and Chase Manhattan Bank (which was subsequently acquired by JP
Morgan). She is currently an independent non-executive director of Bosa
Technology Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8140), a listed company on the

GEM of the Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2023, Ms. Chu is interested in 3,000,000 Shares and
3,721,561 share options (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), and
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. Lam Sze Man, aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director on 3
October 2019. Ms. Lam is a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.
Ms. Lam obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has around 15 years of
working experience in accounting.

As at 31 March 2023, Ms. Lam is interested in 50,000 Shares and
1,860,781 share options (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), and
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis, aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 23 August 2018. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee. He has over 15 years of experience in
capital investment, assurance and consultancy services industry. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce, majoring in Accounting and
Finance from Deakin University (Melbourne, Australia) in 2000. He is a
fellow member of CPA Australia. He is holding the position of director in
a local consultancy firm. He is also currently a director of New Territories
General Chamber of Commerce; a director, vice president and committee
member of Care of Rehabilitated Offenders Association. He is also
currently an independent non-executive director of Kwoon Chung Bus
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 306), which is listed on the Stock Exchange.
He was an independent nonexecutive director of e-Kong Group Limited
(now known as Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 524)
from June 2015 to May 2017, China Best Group Holding Limited (Stock
code: 370) from September 2014 to October 2016, Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sumpo Food Holdings Limited) (Stock
code: 1089) from January 2015 to July 2015 and SingAsia Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 8293) from February 2018 to March 2020, all of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2023, Mr. Chan does not have any interest in the Shares
and underlying Shares (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael, aged 71, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 18 August 2017. He is also the chairman of
the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, and a member of the
Remuneration Committee. He has over 35 years of experience in external
audit, IT audit, training, accounting and finance, company secretarial and
corporate administration, MIS management, internal audit, information
security, risk management and compliance. Mr. Chan is currently an
independent non-executive director of Lansen Pharmaceutical Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 503), which is listed on the Stock Exchange. Also,
he is the chief executive of C&C Advisory Services Limited. Mr. Chan is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a fellow member
and specialist in Information Technology of CPA Australia. He was admitted
as a certified information systems auditor with the Information Systems
Audit and Control Association in 1985. Mr. Chan was an adjunct professor
in the School of Accounting and Finance of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University from 2009 to 2014. Mr. Chan worked at CMG Life Assurance
Limited (formerly known as Jardine CMG Life Assurance Limited) from
1991 to 1996 and his last position was general manager, compliance and
corporate affairs. He was employed by Dao Heng Bank Limited in 1996 as
the group auditor (which was subsequently acquired by DBS Bank (Hong
Kong) Limited) and he ceased working for the bank in 2004 with his last
position as managing director and head of compliance, Hong Kong and
Greater China. Mr. Chan was also the group financial controller of Lam
Soon (Hong Kong) Limited from 2004 to 2005, the director of quality
assurance of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
2005 and the deputy general manager of the compliance department
of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Limited from 2006 to
2009. Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive director of Sterling
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1825), which is listed on the Stock
Exchange, from September 2018 to August 2022. Mr. Chan graduated
with a higher diploma in accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now
known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1976 and
was awarded the postgraduate diploma in business administration from
the University of Surrey in March 1998.

As at 31 March 2023, Mr. Chan is interested in 2,500 Shares (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and does not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders.

20 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

/

BIYFBTES (H)

REBEEE 7" R-ZE—tFNA+ N \BEZX
TABIUFNTEE - BNALARREREZEESEN
REZEGZEIRURTNEEG 2K E - REH
BEZ BMMEEZ - FI-g5t ke 2R
ERAFTRER BEEARREE AHHEZ -
EARLT BRREBERAETAHEABBISFL
BRo-REERAMEBETRABRAA (BRMDARKR:
S03)ZBMUIFRITEFT ZARABIMLETA
BletsN B ABHEEBEMBERARZITHEAR K
EEBRBEGHAAS HEFTARSHAAE
BREBURBMNGHBRASEREE REERK
BER-FR—ANEFERTBEREE ZRFT
MErzaAMEERRETM - R_ETNEFE-ZT
—NFEH REEETEEEIRESHREHE
RZEALRE-R—AN—"FE—HLARER R
EEABREBRBASRBRER AR (ABRMAS
REERDF) BBRAIAARARCESHRLRE-
BER—ANAFZENREFROTERAA (EEK
ERRIT(BB)BRABMNE) EEEEZEEGE -
R_ETNFRZBITHR BB ATERAT
EREFHCEREGREE LIV REER=-ST
TNEE_TTRAFECHEIB(EBE)ARAAZ
EEMSEE RN HAFEECEACHIAE
BERKEREZBE IR _ZTFE_TTAF
EEFBEFLRB(EE)ROERARDARBE
BIEE - RAER_T—\FLAZZZT==FN
AHEETEBIM EITHNEREEEERERA
Al (BRI 1825) 2 BUIFATEZT -RELER
—NEAF+—AZREXEREBEIER GABES
BTKRE) EBEESKAEHXE IR -—AANE=
PEEEASZERIBEEMEE S

RZTZ=F=A=+—H " BR5EEN25008KH
PR (EERBHFRBEGKRAEXVEH) B
VTERAMNES SRAETEAE TERRIIER
B A EREE -



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Feng Man, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 13 December 2019. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Feng obtained a Bachelor degree in Civil Engineering from
the Shanghai Institute of Railway Sciences, Shanghai in 1989, a Master
degree in Geotechnical Engineering from China Academy of Railway
Sciences, Beijing in 1992 and a Master degree in Geotechnical Engineering
from the University of Saskatchewan, Canada in 1999. He is currently
a Registered Professional Engineer in Canada. He has experience over a
wide range of resource types (oil sands, iron, gold, uranium, copper, tin,
etc.), with focus on iron mine development in the last 10 years and project
experiences in Canada, China, Africa, South America, Mongolia, Australia,
tc.. In addition, he has 25 years of mine infrastructure engineering and
engineering management experience. He is currently the general manager

of PeiSi Engineering Co. Ltd..

As at 31 March 2023, Mr. Feng does not have any interest in the Shares
and underlying Shares (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and
does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. He Hao Yu, aged 36,
management of the Group’s multi-media technologies and convergence

is responsible for the development and

media business. He has over 10 years’ working experience in media sales
management, and deep understanding of online and offline integrated
media marketing. His experience involves many multinational brand
including HSBC, Ping An Bank, China Merchants Bank,
SAIC Volkswagen, BYD, Yonghe Hair Transplant, Feihe, etc.,

customers,
and he has
established a strong connection in the PRC unanimous praise.

Mr. Chen Han, aged 46, was appointed as the head of PRC media
operations of the Group in 2019. Mr. Chen graduated from the Shanghai
He has
over 20 years of management experience in private investment industry,

University, majoring in Microelectronics, Department of Physics.
and participated in placing, mergers and acquisition activities of listed
companies in Hong Kong and the PRC. His management experiences
included large commercial complexes and recreational complex projects,
such as the famous American FMCG, ARM & HAMMER. Mr. Chen is one of
the founders of the W. EDGM e-sports club.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Shi Yong Bin, aged 56, is the chief engineer of the Group. He has
extensive experience in research and development of construction materials
and design of beneficiation plant. Mr. Shi is engaged in the research
and development of the DGDB Technologies using the magnetic theory.
He builds up his reputation as a technology inventor in this regard by
obtaining a series of national invention patents.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Shi was the design and research office
director, the deputy director and the general manager of the new
technology promotion center of Xinjiang Building Materials Research
Institute* (T BEM HFFEFT) , the chief engineer of Xinjiang Hejing
Special Cement Plant* (%738 f&F4FTE/KJEM ) , the chairman of Qiewei
Jintuo Cement Co., Ltd.* (AR &8 KEEREE A A) and Bazhou
Xixigao Fine Ash Co., Ltd.* (EB/MAHASHANERXRBEREMEAF), the
chief engineer and deputy general manager of Hami Heshengyuan Mining
Co., Ltd* (BMEARFREEXBEREL2AR]), and the chief engineer and
general manager of Hami Taiyuan Mining Co., Ltd.* (BB ZE T REEEGR
YNCIDI

Mr. Zhang Chun Tao, aged 58, is responsible for the development
and management of the Group’s gamma ray DGDB Business. He is the
chairman of the Group's subsidiary, Shanghai Baoying Mining Limited* ( _E
BERIEFEBMRAT]), and Liaoning Baoying Mining Technology Limited*
(BEBRBEBEXMARRE) .

Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in business management along with
well establishment in different industries including mining, cement,
agriculture and fruit juice. Mr. Zhang served as the factory director of
Xinjiang Manas County Jade Mine* (¥TBI5NETZ EAHE) , in relation
to arts and crafts. He was also appointed as the chairman of the labour
union and deputy mine manager. In addition, he worked as the general
manager of Xinjiang Manas Livestock Products Company* ( #7835 49 H7 &
Ef# 2 7)) . Mr. Zhang also worked in Xinjiang Tunhe Co., Ltd.* (¥75&
o ABBR AT ), as deputy branch factory director, general manager,
administrative department head of the head office and assistant of general
manager respectively. He was the President of Hami Heshengyuan Mining
Co. Ltd* (MBS RRBEXEREMERR) .
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Huen Lai Chun, aged 57, was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 2 September 2015. She is also an authorised
representative of the Company. Ms. Huen is an associate member of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute, and also a fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. She has over 10 years of experience in
handling secretarial and compliance related matters of listed corporations.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHE

The Board hereby presents its report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in multi-media technologies and convergence
media business, gamma ray DGDB Business, and other operations —
investment, securities trading and tourism and hospitality business.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an indication of likely future
developments in the Group's business, can be found in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section set out on pages 4 to 17 of this annual
report. These discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 68
to 69 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, and consolidated assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
223 of this annual report.

DONATIONS
The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year ended
31 March 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2023, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2022: Nil).

OTHER BORROWINGS
Details of the other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set
out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws, or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the year under review.

During the year under review, the Company has put in place appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors’ liabilities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs capped at HK$1,500 per month to the MPF scheme,
in which the contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the government
of the PRC. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute a
certain percentage of the payroll cost to the retirement benefits scheme
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2023, the Group had no forfeited contribution
available to reduce its contributions to the retirement benefit schemes in
future years.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEEHRE (&)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 30 September
2021. The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme:

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or reward
to the Eligible Persons for their contributions to, and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of, the Group.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme and subject to its terms and conditions,
the Board may at its absolute discretion grant options to any Eligible
Employee or director (who is not an Eligible Employee) of the Group or
consultant, agent, supplier, customer or contractor of the Group who or
which may participate in the Share Option Scheme.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an option
and minimum period (if any) for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

Such offer shall be open for acceptance on a day specified in the letter of
grant which shall be no longer than 30 days from the date of the letter
of grant. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme during such period as may be determined by the
Board (which shall not be more than ten years commencing on the date on
which the share option is granted and accepted). Under the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme, the Board has the discretion to set a minimum
period for which a share option has to be held before it may be exercised.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of share options

The share options shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted and
taken effect when the duplicate letter of grant comprising acceptance of
the share options is duly signed by the Eligible Person and returned to the
Company together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1
for each acceptance of grant of the share options.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme and percentage of the issued Shares as at the date of this
annual report

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding vested or unvested options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from
time to time (the “Overriding Limit").
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Report of the Directors (continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme and percentage of the issued Shares as at the date of this
annual report (continued)

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of Shareholders’ approval of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Subject to the Overriding
Limit, the Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, provided that the
Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of Shareholders’ approval of the

refreshment.

At 31 March 2023, the number of Shares in respect of which options had
been granted and remained outstanding under the Share Option Scheme
was 37,215,612 Shares, representing 6.33% of the Shares in issue as at
the grant date and 5.13% of the Shares in issue as at 31 March 2023.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme

The maximum number of Shares (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes to any Eligible Person in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue, unless a Shareholders’
approval has been obtained.

Any grant of share options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates must be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors. Where share options
are proposed to be granted to a substantial Shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates, and the grant
would result in the aggregate of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted or to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant of the relevant share options to (i) represent in aggregate
over 0.1% of the total number of issued Shares for the time being; and
(ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares at
each date of the grant of the share options, in excess of HK$5,000,000,
the proposed grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular to the
Shareholders and the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting with
the connected persons abstaining from voting in favour.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEEHRE (&)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price determined by the Directors shall be at least the highest
of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares on the date of offer;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(iii) ~ the nominal value of the Shares.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to early termination by the Company in general meeting or the
Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on its date of adoption. The Share Option Scheme
will expire on 29 September 2031 and the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme is about 8 years and 3 months as at the date of this annual

report.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Movement of share options during the year under review

During the year under review, no share options was granted, exercised,
cancelled and lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

Movement of share options during the year ended 31 March 2023:
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Number of share options
ERE%A
Weighted average
closing price of the
As at As at Exercise shares immediately
31 March  Granted during Exercised during Cancelled/lapsed 31 March price  Exercisable before the respective
Category of participant 2022 the year the year  during the year 2023 Date of grant per share  period exercise date
RHR
b3 330
TRAMA
R=%zzf E St St 3 8R AR Mg
SEAEH Zh=t-A ERRH ERfiE HE/AN ZA=t-B  REAH ke HE THRTHE
(HKS)
(%7)
Directors
g2
Zhang Yi 3,721,561 - - - 3721561 9122021 0339 9122021- N/A
Rk 81212026 FER
Chu Wei Ning 3,721,561 - - - 370561 9122021 0339 9M2nm- NA
nEE 8/12/2026 0 ki
Lam Sze Man 1,860,781 - - - 1860781 9/122021 0339 9M2nm- NA
M 8/12/2026 R
Employees 20,096,431 - - - 2009431 9121201 0339 912/2021- N/A
ks 81202026 ki
Consultants 7,815,278 - - - 7815218 9122021 0339 912/2021- N/A
BE 8/1212026 AR
Total 37,215,612 - - - 37215612
i
Note: liiFza

(1) The number of share options and exercise price did not reflect the impact
of share consolidation effective on 20 June 2023, details are set out in
Note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEEHRE (&)

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board approved and adopted the Share Award Scheme on 15 January
2018. The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognise the
contributions by certain eligible employees of any member of the Group,
and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group; and (ii) to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group. Details of the
Share Award Scheme are also disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year under review, no share award was granted, vested or
forfeited under the Share Award Scheme. As at 31 March 2023, the
Company had 15,500 unvested Shares awarded under the Share Award
Scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Issue of Consideration Shares

On 29 March 2019, the Company and KK Culture Holdings Limited, Team
Pride Limited, Mr. Sui Chok Lee and Silver Golden Limited (collectively, the
“Vendors”) entered into the purchase agreements (the “Agreements”)
pursuant to which the Vendors conditionally agreed to sell and the
Company conditionally agreed to purchase interests, representing
directly and indirectly the entire issued share capital of Hong Kong
Made (Media) Limited (“Hong Kong Made”) and Ample Success Limited
("Ample Success”), for an aggregate consideration of HK$50,000,000
(the "“Consideration”), which shall be satisfied by the allotment and issue
of 250,000,000 Old Shares of par value of HK$0.10 each in tranches as
consideration at the issue price of HK$0.200 per Old Share to the Vendors
or their respective nominees in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the respective Agreements. Completion took place on 6 June 2019.
As part of the payment of the Consideration for the acquisition of Hong
Kong Made and Ample Success, on 6 June 2019, the Company allotted
and issued to the Vendors the first tranche consideration shares, being
83,333,325 Old Shares, representing approximately 2.24% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the first tranche consideration shares. The aggregate nominal value of the
first tranche consideration shares amounted to HK$8,333,332.50.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Issue of Consideration Shares (continued)

On 14 August 2020, the Vendors and the Company entered into a
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) to the
Agreements. Pursuant to the Agreements and the Supplemental
Agreement, the remaining consideration will be satisfied as follow:

The Company shall pay the Vendors HK$16,666,667 (the “Second Tranche
Consideration”) and HK$16,666,668 (the “Third Tranche Consideration”),
representing one-third of the Consideration each, by the allotment
and issue of the second tranche consideration shares and the third
tranche consideration shares, being 83,333,335 Old Shares (equivalent
to 8,333,334 New Shares) and 83,333,340 Old Shares (equivalent to
8,333,333 New Shares) respectively, to the Vendors or their respective
nominees on or before 15 July 2022 and 15 July 2023 respectively, subject
to the terms and conditions as disclosed in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in the annual report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

On 29 July 2022, the Company allotted and issued to the Vendors the
second tranche consideration shares and third tranche consideration
shares, being 16,666,667 New Shares in total, representing approximately
2.76% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the second tranche consideration shares and third
tranche consideration shares. The aggregate nominal value of the second
tranche consideration shares and third tranche consideration shares
amounted to HK$166,666.67.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds under Specific Mandate and the Disposal
On 15 July 2022, convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$40,000,000 were issued by the Company to Yulong Infotech Inc. (the
“Subscriber”) pursuant to the subscription agreement dated 21 April 2022
(as amended by the supplemental subscription agreement dated 14 June
2022) and entered between the Company, the Subscriber and Yulong
Computer Telecommunication Scientific (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* (F#ETE
#iBERE ORI BBRAE]) (“Yulong Shenzhen”) (the “SM Convertible
Bonds"”). Yulong Shenzhen is a company established in the PRC with
limited liability and an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of Coolpad
Group Limited (stock code: 2369). The consideration of the subscription
of the SM Convertible Bonds in the sum of HK$40,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB32,786,900) was used to set-off HK$40,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB32,786,900) from the Claimed Amount
under the Arbitral Award (as defined in the Company's circular dated
7 June 2022) of RMB80,000,000 on a dollar-for-dollar basis. There was
no proceeds from the subscription. In the case of the conversion rights
having been exercised in full at the initial conversion price of HK$0.35 per
conversion Share, a maximum of 114,285,714 conversion Shares will be
allotted and issued by the Company under specific mandate, representing
approximately 16.27% of the total number of issued Shares as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of the conversion Shares as at the date of issue of
the SM Convertible Bonds. The aggregate nominal value of 114,285,714
conversion Shares is HK$1,142,857.14. The market price was HK$0.335
per Share on the date of the subscription agreement. The Subscriber and/or
other holder of the SM Convertible Bonds shall have the right, exercisable
during the period commencing from the first issue date and ending on the
date which is 30 days prior to the maturity date (i.e. the date which falls
on the first anniversary of the first issue date), to convert the whole (i.e.
HK$40,000,000) or any part of the outstanding principal amount of the
SM Convertible Bonds into such number of conversion Shares pursuant to
the agreements. The Shareholders approved the subscription agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder, including the issue of the
convertible bonds, the allotment and issue of the conversion Shares at the
special general meeting held on 24 June 2022. As at 31 March 2023 and
as at the date of this annual report, the Stock Exchange has granted the
listing approval for the listing of, and permission to deal in, the conversion
Shares, and none of the SM Convertible Bonds has been converted.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds under Specific Mandate and the Disposal
(continued)

During the year under review, Shanghai YunYao Culture & Media Limited*
(EBEZEEXEHEMR AR (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company which is principally engaged in multi-media technologies and
convergence media business) (the “Transferor”) transferred and Yulong
Shenzhen accepted the transfer of 20% of the paid-up equity interests of
Shenzhen ZiJun Media Company Limited* (JRIIIEFBEEH AR A F)) (the
“Target Company”) at a consideration of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$24,400,000) pursuant to the share agreement dated 21
April 2022 and entered between the Transferor, Yulong Shenzhen and the
Target Company (the “Disposal”). Upon completion of the Disposal, the
Target Company will remain as an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, and its financial results will continue to be consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The consideration of
the Disposal in the sum of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$24,400,000) shall be used to set off RMB20,000,000 from the Claimed
Amount under the Arbitral Award on a dollar-for-dollar basis. There was no
proceeds from the Disposal. Within one year from the date of completion
of the Disposal, the Transferor or its designated party has the right to buy
back the 20% of the paid-up equity interests of the Target Company held
by Yulong Shenzhen at a consideration of RMB20,000,000. As one or more
applicable percentage ratios (as defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules)
for the Disposal exceed 5% but all of them are below 25%, the Disposal
constitutes a discloseable transaction for the Company and is subject to
the reporting and announcement requirements under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.

Upon completion of the issue of the SM Convertible Bonds and the
Disposal, the obligations of the Company in relation to the Arbitral Award
shall be settled and discharged fully and finally, arising from or in relation
to the proceedings in the High Court and/or the Arbitral Award pursuant
to the Settlement Agreement (as defined in the Company's circular dated
7 June 2022). Besides, the Disposal will provide an opportunity to establish
long-term strategic alliance and business collaboration between the
Company and Yulong Shenzhen mainly in the multi-media technologies
and convergence media business of the Group.

For the details of the SM Convertible Bonds and the Disposal, please refer
to the Company’s announcements dated 21 April 2022, 14 June 2022, 24
June 2022 and 30 August 2022 as appropriate, and the Company's circular
dated 7 June 2022.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds under General Mandate

On 1 August 2022, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with each of Ms. Lei Yu Fei* (the First Subscriber), Ms. Geng Juan* (the
Second Subscriber), Better Choice Group Limited (the Third Subscriber) and
Mr. Ye Xin Lin* (the Fourth Subscriber) (collectively, the “Subscribers”),
respectively, pursuant to which the Company contemplates to issue and
the First Subscriber is desirous of subscribing convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$5,000,000 (the “First Convertible Bonds”), the
Second Subscriber is desirous of subscribing convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$3,000,000 (the “Second Convertible Bonds"),
the Third Subscriber is desirous of subscribing convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$2,000,000 (the “Third Convertible Bonds"”), and
the Fourth Subscriber is desirous of subscribing convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$2,000,000 (the “Fourth Convertible Bonds”)
(collectively, the “GM Convertible Bonds”). The GM Convertible Bonds are
all at 4% coupon rate with 3-year maturity. In the case of the conversion
rights having been exercised in full at the initial conversion price of
HK$0.30 per conversion Share pursuant to the subscription agreements,
a maximum of 39,999,998 conversion Shares will be allotted and issued
by the Company under general mandate, representing approximately
6.20% of the total number of issued Shares as enlarged by the allotment
and issue of the conversion Shares as at the date of issue of the GM
Convertible Bonds. The aggregate nominal value of 39,999,998 conversion
Shares will be HK$399,999.98. The market price was HK$0.20 per Share
on the date of the subscription agreements. On 29 August 2022, the
GM Convertible Bonds were issued by the Company to the Subscribers
pursuant to the subscription agreements. The gross proceeds from the
subscriptions of the GM Convertible Bonds is HK$12,000,000, while the
net proceeds from the subscriptions is approximately HK$11,945,000
(after deducting the professional fees and other related costs and expenses
incurred in the subscriptions). The net issue price for each conversion
Share is approximately HK$0.299. As at the date of this annual report, the
net proceeds from the subscriptions of the GM Convertible Bonds have
been fully utilised as intended, namely, for general working capital of the
Group, including (i) approximately HK$3.5 million for the multi-media
technologies and convergence media business; (ii) approximately HK$6
million for initiating and preparation of pilot machinery of the iron ore
DGDB Business; and (iii) approximately HK$2.445 million for the overhead
expenses of the Group.

For the details of the GM Convertible Bonds, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 1 August 2022, 17 August 2022
and 30 August 2022. As at 31 March 2023 and as at the date of this
annual report, none of the GM Convertible Bonds has been converted.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Proposed Issue of Convertible Bonds under Specific Mandate

On 29 March 2023, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with Hong Fu (HF) Holdings Group Limited (4L4& (HF) =% £ B G R A7)
(as subscriber), pursuant to which the Company contemplates to issue and
the subscriber is desirous of subscribing convertible bonds in the principal
amount of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,256,000),
at an interest rate of 2% per annum and maturity which falls on the third
anniversary of the first issue date. In the case of the conversion rights
having been exercised in full at the initial conversion price of HK$0.225, a
total number of 103,359,173 conversion Shares will be allotted and issued
by the Company, representing approximately 12.46% of the total number
of issued Shares as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the conversion
Shares as at the date of the subscription agreement. The market price
was HK$0.08 per Share on the date of the subscription agreement. The
gross proceeds from the subscription will be RMB20,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$23,256,000), while the net proceeds from the
subscription are estimated to be approximately RMB19,300,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$22,442,000) (after deducting the professional fees
and other related costs and expenses incurred in the subscription). The
net issue price for each conversion Share is approximately HK$0.217. The
Group intends to apply the net proceeds from the subscription for general
working capital of the Group, including but not limited to (i) approximately
RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,628,000) for
the development of the Group’s businesses (including approximately
RMB7,000,000 for the iron ore DGDB Business and approximately
RMB3,000,000 for the multi-media technologies and convergence
media business), and (ii) approximately RMB9,300,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$10,814,000) for overhead and general expenses of
the Group. The Company and the subscriber will establish a long-term
strategic business cooperation relationship. The subscriber will also support
the business development of the iron ore DGDB Business of the Company
through cooperation with various iron ores or steel mills players.

The Shareholders approved the subscription agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, including the issue of the
convertible bonds, the allotment and issue of the conversion Shares at
the special general meeting held on 16 June 2023. As at the date of this
annual report, the Stock Exchange has granted the listing approval for
the listing of, and permission to deal in, the conversion Shares. For the
details of the proposed issue of convertible bonds, please refer to the
Company's announcements dated 29 March 2023 and 16 June 2023, and
the Company'’s circular dated 23 May 2023.

Save for the Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the
agreements above, no other equity-linked agreements were entered by the
Group or existed during the year under review.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEERE (B)

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review was
the Company, its holding companies, its fellow subsidiaries or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year under review were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman)

Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lam Sze Man

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael

Mr. Feng Man

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the Company’s forthcoming
annual general meeting have an unexpired service contract, which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

Other than those disclosed in Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Company's business to which the subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or parent company of the Company was a party and in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year under review
or at any time during the year under review.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 18 to 23 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEEHRE (B)

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE EERESITHRARZRESR

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors RIE - =F=ZA=+—"H EFRARAIESIT
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or BRAEBRARAFAREMEEEIE(ERREHFRBE
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the EBIE XV ER) 2 Bt - HHEE IR0 k& 5 % B 5 8%
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register maintained by EARBIIRBESRKAEKRIEISZEEE 2B
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified MrRzERRAR HIBBEZETFTREANEARAA]
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code R Rz m kAR IT

were as follows:

A. Long position in Shares A RE#ZHEE
Approximate
percentage of
issued share capital
Number of of the Company
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held (Note 2)
HARATH
ERITRAE
HBAEDSL
EEHE B EmHE FrEERAHE (HizE2)
Zhang Yi Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1) 21,534,750 2.967%
o RiEEBER (K aEr)
Beneficial owner 8,000 0.001%
BEmEEA
Sub-total 21,542,750 2.968%
Nt
Chu Wei Ning Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.41%
ME 2= Exnlia A
Lam Sze Man Beneficial owner 50,000 0.007%
MEFE BEmEEA
Chan Kee Huen, Michael Beneficial owner 2,500 0.0003%
[R50 (& BEmEEA
Notes: Hiaz
(1) These Shares are held by One Faith Investments Limited, which is (1)  ZS5Hf) B One Faith Investments Limited
beneficially and wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Yi. BE MZARBRREKEEERZEHESR -
(2)  Based on the number of issued Shares of 725,881,020 as at 31 2 EBBR-_Z_=ZF=ZA=+—HZBZ%E1T
March 2023. B% 5 8 B 725,881,020 51 & -
(3)  The number of Shares held did not reflect the impact of share B FERMHBEYERMNR_ZT_=F/A
consolidation effective on 20 June 2023, details are set out in —_TEROGEHERNEE FRARE
Note 45 to the consolidated financial statements. A B i R B 545 o
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEEHRE (&)

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (continued) EERESTHRAEZER (B)
B.  Share Options B. BR#E

Number of
share options

Name of Directors Date of grant Exercise price Exercisable period granted
PR
ESpE RHBH THEE AT EHA BREHE
Zhang Yi 9 December 2021 HK$0.339 per Share 9 December 2021 to 8 December 2026 3,721,561
(both days inclusive)
R K —ET-—F HhR0.3397 T ZE-—F+ZANREZZT=RF
+=AANA TZANB(BEEEMA)
Chu Wei Ning 9 December 2021 HK$0.339 per Share 9 December 2021 to 8 December 2026 3,721,561
(both days inclusive)
MET 2 —E-—fF Fh%0.339 T TEC -+ -ANRET-RF
+=AhA TZANB(BEEEMR)
Lam Sze Man 9 December 2021 HK$0.339 per Share 9 December 2021 to 8 December 2026 1,860,781
(both days inclusive)
MEFE —E—F Fh%0.33978 7T —E - F+ZRAARE=ZZT=AF
+=AAhH TZANB(BIEEEMA)
Note: Wit
(1) The exercise price and number of Shares to be issued upon (1) REBEREFISRDCERENITEER
exercise of the share options granted under the Share Option I ETERE ST RTNBROHME T E
Scheme did not reflect the impact of share consolidation REMR_ZZE_=F A=+ BKRMHAEH
effective on 20 June 2023, details are set out in Note 45 to the ERNEE FRBHENEETBERRM T
consolidated financial statements. 45
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors or B EXHEEEN R_E-_=ZF=A=+—H"
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in BEFZHARAESITHRABEBMERAR QRS E E M
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of HEEE (EEREFRBEKRAISEXVE) ZRMK -
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as HEARMKESHEECHEEREES REE K
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO FIRETFEZERMAZEMERIAR  HIR
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant BEESTRIE Mg AR KR P72 A # %= ook
to the Model Code. B
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Report of the Directors (continued)

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the following
parties (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) in the
Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in Shares

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest

RERESE EEME

ESEHRE (F)

FERRZEDS

RIE-=F=ZA=1+—HB REEHLHEKH
FEI6HEMRE ARBATFEZECMAH - T
AL (EFEEHARARSTRABR)EBMN K
HEROTHEENREE R T:

RBRB2ZHFRE

Approximate

percentage of

issued share capital

Number of of the Company
Shares held (Note 2)
AR H

BETRA

BMOBED L

FEEROEE (Kiat2)

Yao Yucheng
EyEAERgR (M)

Notes:

(1) These Shares are held by Amber Strong International Limited in which
Mr. Yao Yucheng holds 100% direct interests.

(2) Based on the number of issued Shares of 725,881,020 as at 31 March
2023.

(3) The number of Shares held did not reflect the impact of share
consolidation effective on 20 June 2023, details are set out in Note 45 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Directors are aware of, as at 31
March 2023, there was no other person, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, who had any interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would be required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year under review.

Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1)

36,980,170 5.09%

Wit

(1) ZERMA\BREEERAAEIFE " Yao Yucheng
SEEZABTHEBI100% HEfE i

2) EBER-_E-_=F=ZF=+—-Bz2%7TKH
# B725,881,0200% 5 & °

BRGOEHERNTE  FBIARE
545 °

BRERRBEBERIIN BEEHAN R_T_=F=
A=+—HB BREFIEAQAESITRAEIN#
BHMATERDIBEBROTREBRERE S LY
B IRPIE33615 R TE B T 17 B & B AL it b /0 (£ ] 4

HAHA
EEEHN

REBFEALET X FEEBAARR 2K
MERNBDEBEERITRZAL -
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEEHRE (&)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS TEEFRHEER

For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue from the Group's five largest HE-_T-_=F=-A=1+T—HILFE kRBEELEH
customers accounted for approximately 96.1% of the total revenue AREBEFHRALERBIANG 1% E i BIENK
and revenue from the largest customer included therein amounted to B ABTRPHWANETZ6% HE T - =—F=
approximately 72.6%. Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers R=+—HBIEEE AEBEREKRHEERHKE K
accounted for approximately 64.8% of the total purchases for the year BEGAREREN648% HAma XHEERE
ended 31 March 2023 and purchases from the largest supplier included ZREREA(538.5% °

therein amounted to approximately 38.5%.

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates or any REBEFEN EFARESG2AMETHEA
Shareholders, to the best knowledge of the Directors, holding more than SEMBRR (RESMANBERARAZPEET
5% of the Company’s total issued share capital, had any beneficial interest BRAS% A EE)BERRNEB 2 AREFHHER
in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers during the year under RERE A ERER -

review.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS REXRS

Particulars of transactions with related parties of the Group during the REBEE—_T_=F=A=+—BLEFEEAEEH
year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated HEATHETZRGFBHRGEE M BREM T -
financial statements. These transactions did not fall under the definition of ZERGAUTEBR ETRUNETHAEEEZ [H
“connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. BER5] e

PUBLIC FLOAT NBERE

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and BREAERAAAAEHZERERREZESHAA B
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, RERAE XRAEBTRAEEPRD25% H
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the NBANTHEE-

public.

AUDIT COMMITTEE EREES

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and the external ERZECEHREARRERERE RINEZEAE
auditor of the Company the accounting principles and practices adopted AEBAEMZ SR RED AR wmiZE
by the Group, and discussed the auditing, internal control and financial NEEERVBEREREF BEEHAEEEE
reporting process including the review of the consolidated financial To=F=A=+—RUEFEZGREMB®RE -

statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S BE HEIFELEEXALAFAZLEHRS

LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company nor any of HE-_T-_=F=-A=+—HLEFE KAAFHH
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed FRMBEARMERE HEXERARRREM L
securities. &%

TAX RELIEF REER

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the RA B AMEBEBREFFE KD WA Z6 2 ER/IB
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. Intending holders BEE- ROZAEFRBEARKEEZNEHRE B
and investors of the Shares are recommended to consult their professional ERHE REAEEROGZBBLE (REHBE
advisers if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications (including R)EEMRERE BEEA RS EXBEM -ERE
tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or dealing in B AR EESTmBBERTABROIFTEA
the Shares. It is emphasised that none of the Company or its Directors or AR HBE BE BEEXEEXSEROMELEZ
officers will accept any responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities of, ERARETELEETER

holders of Shares resulting from their subscription for, purchase, holding,
disposal of or dealing in such Shares.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (”Asian Alliance”) resigned as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 24 April 2023. Mazars was appointed by
the Board with the recommendation from the Audit Committee as the new
auditor of the Company with effect from 24 April 2023 to fill the causal

vacancy following the resignation of Asian Alliance.

The Board and the Audit Committee were of the view that the change of
auditor would enable the Company to carry out more effective cost control
and will cope with its future business development which is in the interest
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no other change in the auditor of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 have been audited by Mazars who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution for re-appointment of Mazars as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to
the Shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and professional advisors
for their support to the Company over the past year and sincerely thank
our staff for their ongoing dedication and contribution made in the past
year.

On behalf of the Board

Chu Wei Ning
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023

ESEHRE (F)

B B ED
ER(BR)GAMEBRARAR ([FE/]) BT
ARARREE BT - ZFNA - +HBEER-
REZZEGNHEEBT TEIREEZSLMER
RARKFZEM BT _=ZFMA - +MHAE
EXC AR ERBHEROERE =

FESRNERZESRE RHMEHBEALAR A
BEMETER SR ALS WEEHERKNE
BEE AR RBREAERF -

%iﬁ&%%%*ﬁ@ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&@ﬁi$¢ﬁﬁ
E /ﬁi’/ Z*k

TERIRCERAREABE T _=F=A=1+—
FLEFEZHAMBHRR MPEIRREENAR
RAEERRBFRAG LRE INEEREMEE
RER-ARAEERRBEFAEG LHRERAER
BEDEIIRBA QA -

&

AABERREFE ROSHBBRR -FF - HERD -
ERBRITLEXEREFHETARAROIIE T
RHBEEINLFEZS NI W EL TR -

RRE=E

BEE
HITEERITHAAE

EB —T-_=F,A=+AH

FEE DR EERERAT 202223 FERE 41

&

9

y .



Corporate Governance Report

J/L\\lkk\Aiﬁtl:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Good corporate governance is vital to the Group's success and sustainable
development. The Company commits itself to a high standard of corporate
governance and has devoted considerable efforts in identifying and
formulating best corporate practices while addressing the Company's
needs.

The Company has put corporate governance practices in place to meet the
code provision (the “Code Provision(s)”) as set out in the CG Code, that
are considered to be relevant to the Group, and has complied with all of
the Code Provisions for the time being in force throughout the year under
review, except the following deviation:

Under Code Provision F.2.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting. During the year under review,
Mr. Zhang Vi,
general meeting of the Company held on 30 September 2022 due to other

the chairman of the Board, was absent at the annual

important engagement.

The Group will periodically review its corporate governance practices to
ensure that it continues to comply with the CG Code and disclosure in the
CG Report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors are collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of business and affairs of the Group in the best interests of
the Shareholders.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised a total of six
Ms. Chu
Wei Ning and Ms. Lam Sze Man, and three independent non-executive
Mr. Chan Kee Huen,
Michael and Mr. Feng Man. A list containing the names of the Directors

Directors, with three executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Vi,
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis,

and their roles and functions is published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

e 2=

FAEERRRIFZEEERDANERARIN L EE
ReBR - ARRABNM@FHEKRKF2LEZERLE
NEHEBEREARARAREBHTEZHRELEER -

ARAREEREEERER UFALETRIMH
WRAEAEEFRZTRIMGE ([FRIGEX]) M
ARREREERNBEFEANETEHMERLERZT
GRS - 1T 51 I BE 1B SR S -

RECETHZTBRXER2KE EZSIFE
HERREFAG - REBEFERN EEEEHFER
KELREHEMEEEHREGMALLFEARAR
TECCHFNAZTRETZRRBFRS

SETH BEB AEREEFES
ALETFARREERENRE -

o

EERFAEERAEBEBRERZERTHE
IATT & BUR 2 SR EF 28

RAFHAY ETedhe X REFHK B
ZERTEEREELE UHEXLIRAEFHLL
R=2BIUFATEERRABEE RIEBLEE
RiGmEt - —NBAEEEHEREAGEEBE
FEERARR R AAGEH -



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
There were five Board meetings and two general meetings held during the
year ended 31 March 2023 and Directors’ attendance at the meetings are

as follows:

TRERBERE (&)

Exg(8)
BE_Z_=F=ZA=t+—HIEFE A2 FEH
THEREEERAMMABRAREG EZHESHR
ZEERIT

Number

Number of of general

Board meetings meetings

Name of Directors attended/held attended/held

HE BT HE BT

=Y ESSg3RY BRRREXRH

Executive Directors: HITES:

Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) RAKAEE (EE) 3/5 172

Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer) MBI L+ (7THAEZ) 5/5 2/2

Ms. Lam Sze Man Mgt 5/5 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors: BIYFHITES:

Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis PR 75 Rl 52 & 5/5 2/2

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael PRECIE % & 5/5 2/2

Mr. Feng Man Vil ke 5/5 2/2

The Board is collectively responsible for formulating the Group's overall
strategy, reviewing and monitoring the Group's business performance,
preparing and approving the Group's financial statements, recommending
the Directors’ appointment or re-appointment to Shareholders, considering
and approving the Group’s material contracts and transactions (in
particular those may involve conflict of interests) as well as other
significant policies and financial matters. The Board gives clear directions as
to the powers delegated to the management for the day-to-day operation,
management and administration functions of the Group. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions being
carried out by the Group’s management and the Board has full support
from the Group’s management to discharge its responsibilities. The Board
would review the delegation arrangements periodically in order to ensure
its effectiveness and efficiently.

Throughout the year under review, the Board at all times met the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules
that at least three independent non-executive directors included and at
least one of them possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise and they represent
at least one-third of the Board respectively.

All independent non-executive Directors are financially independent
from the Group. The Company has confirmed with all independent non-
executive Directors as to their independence and received an annual
confirmation of independence from each of them for the year under
review, having regard to the factors as set out in the Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

EXZgHFAEARIAEE 2 EBER R RE
EAREEZEBRE RERBPERAEE W B R
R REFZEZELEHNZEARRELEBEER
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B 2 NG TEWMES -AEBZEEBNETT
ERNEARZH L ARSEESHE MEES
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
J/L\\,kk\Aiﬁl:l (nE)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships between the members of
the Board.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and nature
of offices held in other public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments in a timely manner and will provide updates to
the Company on any subsequent changes.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 18 to 21 of
this annual report.

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs
(a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules during the year
under review and up to the date of this annual report are set out below:

Name of Directors

BEEnS

Details of Change
SEFE

Exg(8)
MEEAM EFTSEXNBZMALEMBE X5
REXEMERSEBBE-

REZDERNARARERSREM IR QAR
AEBMEBRBEANEEAREMEAAE XK
RERBEMNESE AR RERTER -

BREF REHENEAFRFEI18EE21H -

E%Lﬁﬁ%%wms VI RIE E AR RIS
13.51(2) 16 ( e) B¢ M (g &ﬁ TEWBECEEE
ﬂE@@iF&Ei$¢ﬁE%m“ﬁlﬁ@mw
T

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael

Retired as an independent non-executive director of Sterling Group Holdings

Limited (Stock Code: 1825) with effect from the conclusion of its annual

general meeting held on 31 August 2022.

BRECIER L

The Board has ensured that all the members of the Board can give
sufficient time and attention to the business of the Group and should not
accept the appointment if they cannot.

Every Director was appointed for an initial term of three years, while all
of them are subject to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual
general meetings as specified in the Bye-laws.

The Board noted that if an independent non-executive director has served
more than nine years, his further appointment should be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by shareholders. The Company would
make disclosure of the length of tenure of each existing independent non-
executive directors on a named basis and appoint a new independent
non-executive director at the forthcoming annual general meeting in
accordance with the Code Provision B.2.4 of the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company understands that the independence of the Board is key to
its sound corporate governance. To ensure that independent views and
opinions are available to the Board, the majority of members from all
Board committees are independent non-executive Directors. In assessing
the suitability of a candidate to the Board, the Nomination Committee
will review the candidate’s biographies (including his/her qualifications
and available time) and take into account the composition of the Board,
the professional experience and skills of Directors, the Nomination Policy
and the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee and the Board
examine annually whether each independent non-executive Directors meet
the guidelines for the assessment of independence set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules or any circumstance that could materially interfere
with the exercise of his independent judgment, and ensure receipt of an
annual confirmation of independence letter from each independent non-
executive Directors. To assist Directors in properly performing their duties,
all Directors may seek advice from the company secretary of the Company
or from independent professional advisers at the Company’s expenses.
Independent non-executive Directors only receive fixed fee. The Board will
review the governance framework and mechanism on a regular basis to
ensure their effectiveness.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Zhang Yi was appointed as the chairman of the Board on 5 September
2016 and Ms. Chu Wei Ning was appointed as the chief executive officer
of the Company on 27 June 2016.

The chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible for
ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. The chairman is also responsible
for ensuring that the Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate
information, with the support of the company secretary and the senior
management, which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable,
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings, and all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.
In addition, the chairman is responsible for the agenda for each Board
meeting and he may delegate it to a designated Director or the company
secretary.

The chairman encourages the Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board’s affairs, taking the lead to act in the best
interests of the Company. The chairman also promotes a culture to
facilitate effective contributions, encourages the Directors to express
dissenting views and concerns and allows sufficient discussion of issues
before decisions are made.

TRERBERE (&)

Exg(8)
ARBFRAMEZTGNB LR LR RFEANEERE-
REREEZERBBILBHLER MBEEEXE
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERBSE (&)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (continued)

The chief executive officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies and
strategies approved and delegated by the Board. The chief executive officer
is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations
and is also responsible for developing strategic plans, and formulating
and reviewing the organisational structure, control systems and internal

procedures and processes for the Board's approval.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All independent non-executive Directors were appointed for an initial
term of three years, while all of them are subject to retirement by rotation
at the Company’s annual general meetings as specified in the Bye-
laws. The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experience and independent judgment
to the Board. Through active participation at Board meetings, taking
the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, the
independent non-executive Directors have made various contributions to
the development of the Company’s strategies.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established relevant Board committees to assist it in
discharging its responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 26 March 1999. As at the date
of this report, the Audit Committee consisted of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (as Chairman),
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis and Mr. Feng Man.

The Audit Committee members possess appropriate professional
qualifications, business or accounting and related financial management
expertise and experience to provide relevant advice and recommendations
to the Company. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for oversight
of the financial reporting system and risk management and internal
control systems of the Company, making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor,
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and reviewing and monitoring the independence and objectivity
of the external auditor. Details of the duties and powers of the Audit
Committee are set out in its written terms of reference which are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties which include: (i) developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; (ii) reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the
Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance (if any) applicable to the Directors and employees;
and (v) reviewing the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.

There were three Audit Committee meetings held during the year ended
31 March 2023 and members’ attendance at the meetings are as follows:

Name of members

TEERBMSE (F)

EEZE® (H)

ERZEG (B)
%TZ%EQDT%EE??ﬁ%M:A%%’ () B FT
EREARRRIZEEERABRRRER: % e & BE

REZERSRERABZE =||&ﬁit§¥§§@ (iii)
BT RERARRBETEZEREER TSN EZE
BREHR  (VEIE BRIRERBANESERKIES
ZBTRAEBTE(WE)  RWBFARABTR
ETFRAZERARREEBABRERNZEE -

—ZH¥ZA=Zt+-—HILHFE BEZLES
REeFHF RELESREZBROT

Number of
meetings
attended/held
HE BT
BRARY

REHE

Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman) BREBERE (FE)
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis PR 75 Ml ¢ &

Mr. Feng Man B m

During the year under review, the work performed by the Audit Committee
included (i) reviewing the audited annual results for the year ended 31
March 2022 and the unaudited interim results for the six months ended
30 September 2022 of the Group; (ii) reviewing the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor and making recommendations to the
Board on the re-appointment of the external auditor; (iii) reviewing
the internal control review reports, and the compliance and corporate
governance issues of the Group; and (iv) discussing with the external
auditor the sufficiency of the internal control of the Group. There was
no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the
selection and appointment of the external auditor during the year under

review.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 20 July 2006. As at
the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consisted of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis
(as Chairman) and Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael.

3/3
3/3
3/3
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
J/L\\,kk\Aiﬁl:l (nE)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
remuneration proposals made by the management, and making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and remuneration packages of Directors and senior management.
Details of the duties and powers of the Remuneration Committee are set
out in its written terms of reference which are available on the websites of

the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will review
the proposals made by the management on the remuneration of individual
executive Director and senior management, and make recommendations
to the Board. The Board will have final authority to approve the
recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee.

BEEZEE®(H)
FMHZEES (B)
FTHNEES T EEERNEEBEREZEMN AR

RARBZEHEMHRELRBUAREERSREEA

BzHHTBRESSRIEBER -FHEES

ZHM%&%UJE?I ENEEEBEGE IRARQ
NEE 2 v BB

BEyMEES MRz B FTHEESHEHNE
BEEMRENATEERS Z&Eﬁ/\%ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂkﬁZE
R VAEFSRLEBER -EFSHASH
HEEaRE s HBER IR RTRE-

There was one Remuneration Committee meeting held during the year HE-_T-_=F=-RA=1+—HILFE ¥HFWNZE"
ended 31 March 2023 and members’ attendance at the meeting are as BRRIT-ASH KELFREB2BELOT:
follow:
Number of
meeting
Name of members attended/held
HE/BTE
REHSE RE
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis (Chairman) PR ML (EE) 1”1
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael PREC U L &£ 1/1

During the year under review, the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included reviewing and making recommendations to the Board
on the Directors’ fees and remuneration packages of Directors and senior

management.

The remuneration packages of the Directors for the year ended 31 March
2023 have been reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and approved
by the Board by taking into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment, duty and responsibility, market
conditions and desirability of performance-based remuneration. Details of
the emoluments of all Directors are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the
year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows:

TEERBMSE (F)

BEEZEE®(H)
FMHZEES (B)
RECETAHZTAEXEIS SHEEEBEAER

BE T =—F=-A=1T-HUIFEZFHFZLF
FIEAE

Number of
employee
EEAE
HK$1 to HK$500,000 178 7 £500,000/8 7T 3
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,00178 7T £ 1,000,000/%8 7T 1
Total BEt 4
Nomination Committee REZEES
The Nomination Committee was established on 27 March 2012. As at REZEERN \: ’*:Ezﬁ iy o ol = 1 VALY AV
the date of this report, the Nomination Committee consisted of two MEBH REZECHMEBLIERITEERC
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael BEE(XER)R Fﬂﬂf‘ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁi 9
(as Chairman) and Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis.
The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for the annual review RAZECTEZEEEOERTESZERE A
of the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge LK (BiERE %&ﬁ‘“%ﬁ) TR ES AE
and experience) of the Board, making recommendations to the Board BEELERETZERETRNESSIRHEER
on the selection of candidates for directorship, appointment or re- AR ZBIIIFRITES 2B UM k%?\az
appointment and succession of Directors, and assessing the independence BBRENFEHINES Eﬁﬁﬂg HEAIRAR

of independent non-executive Directors. Details of the duties and powers
of the Nomination Committee are set out in its written terms of reference
which are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

There was two Nomination Committee meetings held during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and members’ attendance at the meetings are as

follows:

KBt E

BE_Z-_=F=A=+—BLFE RELZE"
RROTMAEH KEHEFHEZBERNAT

Number of

meeting

Name of members attended/held
HE BT

REHH BRRE
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael (Chairman) BRECIE L (F/E) 2/2
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis BR 75 Rl 5 & 2/2
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, and industry
and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

The Nomination Policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company's business. In identifying and
selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination Committee
would consider the candidate’s character, qualifications, experience,
independence and other relevant criteria necessary to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board. In evaluating
and recommending retiring Directors to the Board for re-appointment, the
Nomination Committee would also consider the overall contribution and
service of the retiring Directors to the Company, including but not limited
to the attendance of the meetings of the Board and/or its committees and
general meetings of the Company where applicable, in addition to the level
of participation in and performance on the Board and/or its committees.

During the year under review, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee included (i) reviewing the Board diversity, including structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board; (ii) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board; (iii) reviewing the annual
confirmation of independence submitted by the independent non-
executive Directors and assessing their independence; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of Directors.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external service provider as its Company
Secretary since 2 September 2015. Ms. Chu Wei Ning, the chief executive
officer of the Company, and Ms. Lam Sze Man, an executive Director,
are the contact persons of the external service provider. The biographical
details of the Company Secretary are disclosed in the “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual report. During
the year under review, Ms. Huen Lai Chun, being the Company Secretary
of the Company, undertook over 15 hours of relevant professional training
to update her skills and knowledge.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Company has adopted a code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard as set out in the Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry, all current Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions throughout the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in (i) maintaining the risk
management and internal control system for the Group to safeguard the
investments of the Shareholders and assets of the Group at all times;
and (ii) evaluating the effectiveness of such system. Internal control
and risk management systems will be reviewed by the Board annually
covering all material controls in the financial, operational and compliance
controls. The internal control and risk management systems of the Group
aim to manage, but not completely eliminate, the risks which hinder
the achievement of business objectives, which only provides reasonable
assurance, while cannot guarantee that material false statements and
damages will be fully avoidable.

The Group has established its risk management and internal control
framework. Main features of the framework are described in the sections

below:

. Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis carrying out internal control across the Group.

3 Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analysing risks to achieve the Group's objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.

3 Control Activities: Actions established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out.

3 Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether

each component of internal control is present and functioning.
Professional third party is engaged to assess and comment on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems.

TRERBERE (&)

EEREXS
REBEFER AARCRMNEFETEFRXILZ
BT ST R R BERRETRIAE 2 R ERE -

RELAESHR 2RATEEHARENEME
DEFEAREEAFRAN -—EETRESTRM
HZAEBRERARRBEHESTETESFRS
SPAF A e

B EERANIPEE

EFeRRAEEEM: ((#EFEENARERE R
NPELRG UBERRERRAORERAEEN
BE RITHEZESNERE - EFE2BEFE
EAFEEERAREERA BEME - EERA
PSP EMAEEREHE R A EEAAIE
ThNEBREERAEEEEBTRE TS HRERE
REBKEEZEHNER SEFEREHAENRSE HET
ERBEATEHAENEBRILRIBE-

AEFEDZEURBREELAMEZEER ZERD
TERHEEOT:

. ERRE RN RAKEETERAMER
REERZEE BFREE-

. Rz hHA T HITERR 2 TS HREHIE
Fr B A SR EE K B R - 30 R R E R E IR
R EE (A

. EREE: GIERRRIEFRIITE AR
EEERERARBNEKBERZETRBIIE
AT

. ERBER: EBAEERNINIEER WEMS
ERCETARER-

. ER:BEETEMN G EESAEER
FEERIF - REBEXNF=THRAREER
MERE I R LB B 1 R A M TR (A
RHEBR-

HEIE AR EERERAT 202223 ¢r§*$&ﬁ/

\

“»

y .



Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information and
enable a consistent practice of timely, accurate and complete disclosure
of material information of the Group, the Group has adopted policies and
procedures which set out guidelines and procedures as well as measures to
handle and disseminate inside information. Certain reasonable measures
have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist
to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

U The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their

obligations to preserve confidentiality.

3 Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

3 The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf
of the Company when communicating with external parties such as
the media, analysts or investors.

Internal Control Advisor

The Group has engaged the Internal Control Advisor to carry out the
internal audit functions by performing independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Internal Control Advisor is independent of the Group's
daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests
of operational effectiveness to identify any irregularities and risks, develops
action plans and makes recommendations to address the identified risks,
and reports to the Audit Committee on any key findings and progress of
the internal audit process. The Audit Committee in turn reports to the
Board on any material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
The Board is responsible for the risk management (including environmental,
social and governance risks) and internal control systems of the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board is also responsible for
reviewing the internal control review reports, and approving policies and
procedures designed by the management. The Board conducted a review
and assessment of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and procedures for the financial year ended 31
March 2023 by way of discussions with the management of the Group, the
members of the Audit Committee and the Internal Control Advisor.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

Based on the risk assessments done by the management of the Company,
certain potential risks of the Group for the year under review have been
identified. Details of the potential risks of the Group are disclosed in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted by the Internal Control
Advisor, some deficiencies in the design and implementation of operational
controls were identified and recommendations were proposed for
improvement for the year under review. The Company has put in place the
recommended measures to improve those operational controls.

The Board, through its review and the review made by the Internal Control
Advisor and the Audit Committee, concluded that, the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group are generally adequate and
effective during the year under review.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 was audited by Mazars. During the year under review,
the remuneration payable to Mazars for their statutory audit services
amounted to HK$1,400,000 and there was no remuneration payable to
Mazars for their non-audit services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare consolidated
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are pertinent
to its operations and relevant to the consolidated financial statements,
have made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and
have prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 and those
of the auditor to the Shareholders are set out on pages 66 to 67 of this
annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERBSE (&)

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company has adopted its Board Diversity Policy since August 2013
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees board diversity as an essential element in achieving a
sustainable and balanced development. In reviewing Board composition,
the Nomination Committee will consider balancing of a number of factors,
including but not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
members’ appointments will be based on merit, having due regard to the
overall effective function of the Board as a whole.

The Nomination Committee will review the relevant measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board and the Board Diversity Policy,
and make recommendations on any required changes to the Board for

consideration on an annual basis.

For the year under review, the Board has achieved the measurable
objectives set for achieving diversity on the Board, and reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and
considered the Board Diversity Policy as effective.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general meeting
Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-
law 58, the Shareholder(s) holding as at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
with the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request
the Board to convene a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the
Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
for the attention of the Company Secretary and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
said date.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed in writing with contact
details (including name, address, telephone number and email address) to
the principal office in Hong Kong of the Company at Suites 3706-3708,
37/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at general meetings
of the Company.

Procedures for putting proposals at a general meeting

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations,
strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at general
meetings of the Company. Proposals shall be directed in writing with
contact details (including name, address, telephone number and email
address) to the principal office in Hong Kong of the Company at Suites
3706-3708, 37/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 248 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director are
available on the website of the Company.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals are
appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for approval at
the next general meeting of the Company to be convened by the Board.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company communicates with its Shareholders and investors
through various channels including publication of interim and annual
reports, announcements, circulars, press releases and other corporate
communications and publications available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The Company
encourages their participation through general meetings where they meet
and exchange views with the Board, and exercise their right to vote at
general meetings.

To promote the communication between the Company and its Shareholders,
the Company has established its Shareholders Communication Policy which
will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness and compliance
with the prevailing regulatory and other requirements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERBSE (&)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (continued)

The Shareholders Communication Policy aims to set out the provisions
with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders (both individual and
institutional) and, in appropriate circumstances, the investment community
at large, are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company (including its financial
performance, strategic goal and plans, material developments, governance
and risk profile), in order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights
in informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and the investment
community to engage actively with the Company.

For the year under review, the Board has reviewed the Shareholders
Communication Policy to ensure the best practices for communication with
Shareholders and reviewed the shareholder and investor engagement and
communication activities conducted during the year under review, and was
satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
Communication Policy.

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group. The Directors are aware of the reported loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$24,273,000 for the year ended 31
March 2023, as well as the Group's net current liabilities of approximately
HK$343,516,000 and net liabilities of approximately HK$341,101,000
as at 31 March 2023. As at the same date, the Group's total borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$231,901,000, while its cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$7,363,000 only. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent
Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern
As stated in the Independent Auditor’s Report, the Auditor was unable
to obtain sufficient audit evidence regarding the use of going concern
assumption in the preparation of the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements (the “Audit Issue”). The Auditor was of the view that, the
execution of the plans and measures of the Group is still in progress.
Uncertainty exists as to whether the Group will be able to achieve its plans
and measures and to continue as a going concern.
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GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERBMSE (F)

FEEE2TREM (8)

Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent EEERERZEEHBIREMEBERELE 2
Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern EATHBREZFREERANEZE (B)

(continued)

The consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going RAVBRRERBELCEREERE DERESE
concern basis as the Directors had given careful consideration to the THEZERAEBEZAMRBHARARDESCHTE
impact of the current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group and NIAEERE

were satisfied that:

Group’s core businesses;

gearing ratio and finance costs and to improve its capital structure.

The Group is actively seeking opportunities for fund-raising, i. REBEBRFBEBSKELKE  BIEETRER
including but not limited to, placing and rights issue, depending EITRE RHR - BFRITTALRETETDZL
on the prevailing market conditions and the development of the XBHNEE:

The Group will continuously take measures to tighten cost control i AERE S B PR ER A 1 - IR 8 B A A R4
over various costs to attain profit and operating cash inflows and Bl ABERBFREERESTA LERSE
implement various strategies such as diversifying the application of BB Pl B SR BT A A AT
our DGDB Technologies in other more profitable and larger scale BE N RARBIITES A R 2 REZE - g
industries, in particular, the mining industry to enhance the Group's MAEEHKA K

The Group will continue to negotiate with its creditors for extension i. AEBSEBHREEAGECEEINHES
of its debts when fall due and approach various financial institutions WEH THEZSMEBEENE - PRIE
to explore further possibility of debt or equity financing to lower its TEEIBRARENAIEE UEREEERRE

B RBARA  BHE A -

The management of the Company (the “Management”) had used their AR EBE([EEEEREZRE IREE
best endeavours to provide information to the Auditor including (i) a cash Mg ER BEORAEEXIDEE Lzt E &
flow forecast covering a period up to 30 September 2024 on the basis that BN EEREREEE_T_MFALA=TAHL
the Group's aforementioned plans and measures would be successful; (ii) HEMRESREEA: (VEEEFTEHERE: (VHE
its fund-raising planning progress; (iii) its discussion progress with major RERETEBERANTRER R(v) AEBE &
creditors in relation to loan capitalisation; and (iv) the latest operation O EEBR ME S FEEEN R A EEE KU
situation of the Group such as established business collaborations in regard REBARELEEBRECERAERER BN
to the multi-media technologies and convergence media business and SEKEBERRENEEEcUBITEE -2 -=F
the iron ore DGDB Business to demonstrate that the Group would have A=+ BB+ -@EAARI NG EEE-

sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the twelve months from 31 March 2023.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Management’'s view and EZZESCEHERENER KA BEMZ
assessment and based on the information provided to the Auditor and the HRMEHMEHRESRTEERELEMENE
past performance of the Directors addressing the going concern issue, the B EZEEgEREREHERETEEN IS

Audit Committee agreed to the Management’s position concerning this

Audit Issue.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TRERKRSE (&)

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent
Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern
(continued)

The Auditor was of the view that the outcome of the above action plans
are subject to multiple uncertainties (e.g. the fund-raising plan has not yet
been finalised and no concrete documents in relation to debt or equity
financing have been provided). It was unable for them to ascertain whether
the assumptions made by the Directors in preparing the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis were appropriate.

The Management has explained the situation of the Group to the Auditor
from time to time. In light of the Company’s financial position and
uncertainties of the economic environment which may affect the appetite
of financial institutions for fund-raising activities and the consumption
demand of our customers, the Management understands the view of the
Auditor.

Actions taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue (the
“Action Plan”)

Since the publication of the annual results of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has conducted the following
measures to address the going concern issue including but not limited to:

(i) Fund-raising activities

On 1 August 2022, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with 4 subscribers. The total principal amount of the
convertible bonds is HK$12,000,000 (the “"GM Convertible Bonds").
The GM Convertible Bonds are all at 4% coupon rate with 3-year
maturity. A maximum of 39,999,998 conversion Shares will be
allotted and issued by the Company under general mandate with
conversion price of HK$0.30 per conversion share pursuant to the
subscription agreements upon full conversion of the GM Convertible
Bonds. The net proceeds from the subscriptions is approximately
HK$11,945,000 which was applied as to:

(1) approximately HK$3.5 million for the multi-media technologies
and convergence Media business;

(2)  approximately HK$6 million for initiating and preparation of
pilot machinery of the iron ore DGDB Business; and

(3)  approximately HK$2.445 million for the overhead expenses of
the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent

Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern

(continued)

Actions taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue (the

“Action Plan”) (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(ifi)

(iv)

(v)

Fund-raising activities (continued)

On 1 November 2022, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with 5 subscribers. On 11 November 2022, an aggregate
of 120,980,170 subscription Shares at the subscription price of
HK$0.0576 per subscription Share were allotted and issued under
general mandate to five subscribers. The net proceeds from the
subscriptions were approximately HK$6.97 million which was applied
as to:

(1) approximately HK$3 million for the repayment of other
payables and other borrowings; and

(2)  approximately HK$3.97 million for the overhead expenses of
the Group.

Loan capitalisation
Details are disclosed in Note 25(b)(i) and 33(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Actively seeking opportunities for debt or equity financing

The Group had obtained various short-term loans from independent
third parties to fulfil the funding needs of the Group. The Company
will further seek debt or equity financing as and when opportunities

arise.

Extension of loan repayment period

The Group had successfully reached an agreement with lenders
to extend the loans in aggregate amount of approximately
HK$17,387,000 and the loans will be subject to renewal semi-
annually and annually upon the approval from the lenders.

Enforcing cost-saving measures

From time to time, the Company has repaid other borrowings with
higher interest rates in order to reduce finance cost. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, the finance cost dropped by 52% as
compared to the same period ended 31 March 2022.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent

Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern

(continued)

Actions taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue (the

“Action Plan”) (continued)

(vi)  Seeking further business opportunities in relation to its operation

(a) Multi-media technologies and convergence media business
The Group timely reviews its resources to strategically utilize
them in its core business segments. In response to the post-
pandemic and volatile economy, the Group has put more
focus on and allocated more resources to its convergence
media and e-commerce business rather than its traditional
multi-media business. The diversification of its media business
could enhance the revenue of the Group in the coming

financial year.

(b) Gamma ray DGDB Business

The Group has continued to discuss and negotiate with
various iron ore or steel mill players on potential cooperation
opportunities for the development of this business segment.
The Group is also actively exploring to apply its DGDB
Technologies in other industries. It is expected that the iron
ore DGDB Business could improve the Group's profitability
and bring in positive cashflow in coming years.

Actions to be taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue

The recovery of the global economies is full of uncertainty. The investors
are more conservative on selecting their investment options. The
rising interest rates limits the financing options of the Company. The
Management has used their best endeavor to deliver their commitments
on resolving the going concern issue. Since 2019, the total liabilities of the
Company decreased from approximately HK$626,336,000 to approximately
HK$404,720,000, representing a decrease of 35.4%. After reviewing and
evaluating the Action Plan, the Company has revised the Action Plan to
address the Audit Issue, and the Management will continue to execute
the Action Plan to address the disclaimer of opinion. Some of the revised
strategies are as follows:
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent

Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern

(continued)

Actions to be taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue

(continued)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Planning for a large-scale fund-raising exercise

The Company has been in the process of contemplating a larger
scale financing plan and may be by way of various financing means,
including but not limited to rights issue, placing or subscription of
shares and/or convertible bonds. The Company intends to apply the
proceeds for the repayment of trade and other payables and other
borrowings and also for further expansion of the current business
segments of the Group. As at the date hereof, the Company is in
negotiation but has not finalised any large scale fund-raising plans
(including the amount of fund-raising and the fund-raising method)
with any financial institutions/investors. The success of the fund
raising is subject to the market sentiment and appetite of financial
investors. The Company will use its best endeavour to finalise the
fund-raising plans as soon as possible pending the improvement of
the market sentiment.

Discussion on loan capitalisation

The Company is in the final discussion phase of converting a
substantial independent third party loan with principal and interest
payable amounting to approximately HK$154 million to be a long-
term convertible bond. This will extend the payment schedule and
improve the financial position of the Company by reducing the
current liabilities position of the Company.

Extension of loan repayment period

From time to time, the Company will review its borrowings and loans
schedule and evaluate the needs to extend the repayment period
subject to the Group's financial position and future cash flow.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

i

XERWMSE (&)

GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Management’s and Audit Committee’s Views on the Independent

Auditor’s Opinion on material uncertainty related to going concern

(continued)

Actions to be taken by the Company to address the Audit Issue

(continued)

(iv)

62

Exploring different business opportunities in relation to its operation
Details are included in the Business Review of the Management
Discussion and Analysis section.

The Management will continue to implement the revised Action Plan
to enhance the financial performance and improve the cashflow of
the Group. In addition, the Group will seek potential opportunities

to bring synergies to the Group and increase its revenue stream.

Based on the above revised Action Plan, the Company expects
that the current liabilities would be reduced significantly and the
financial position would further improve for the year ending 31
March 2024. The Management has communicated with the Auditor
in regard to the above revised Action Plan. The Directors have
shown their capability to implement the above revised Action Plan
and the positive results of such plan. The Auditor concurred with the
Management that if the above actions or measures can be executed
successfully, resulting in significant improvement in financial
position, the Auditor is of the view that the disclaimer of opinion
can be removed for the year ending 31 March 2024.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

An up-to-date consolidated version of the Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws of the Company is published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

To, among others, (i) bring the Bye-laws in alignment with amendments
made to the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of Bermuda; (ii) allow
general meetings to be held by electronic means or in the form of a
hybrid meeting; and (iii) incorporate certain housekeeping amendments,
the Board proposed to amend and restate the Bye-laws. The proposed
amendments to the Bye-laws and adoption of the amended and restated
Bye-laws were approved at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 30 September 2022.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no other change to the constitutional
document of the Company during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Directors are committed to complying with Code Provision C.1.4 of the
CG Code on directors’ training to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the Board will be informed
and relevant.

All Directors have provided their training records for the year under review
to the Company pursuant to the CG Code. The individual training record
of each Director for the year ended 31 March 2023 is summarised below:
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Name of Directors trainings
EEpE 1% Bl
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Zhang Yi (Chairman) RIKEE (FE) AB
Ms. Chu Wei Ning (Chief Executive Officer) M EL L (7TEHAEER) AB
Ms. Lam Sze Man M B L AB
Independent non-executive Directors: BIYFHTES:
Mr. Chan Fong Kong, Francis BR 77 Wl %5 & AB
Mr. Chan Kee Huen, Michael PREC B L A A.B
Mr. Feng Man RS M A A,B
A:  Attending seminars/conferences/training sessions and reading materials A: HEEECEES EERHBEBEUARLETA

relating to corporate governance, directors’ duties and responsibilities,
and updates on rules, laws and/or regulations relating to listed
companies

B: Reading newspapers/journals/articles and in-house briefings relating to
the economy, general business, and/or the Company’s business
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERBSE (&)

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
(continued)

Every newly appointed Director will be given a comprehensive and tailored
induction on his/her first appointment so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and of his/her duties, responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing briefing and
professional development to Directors, whenever necessary.

The Directors are continuously updated on latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance with the same by them.

All Directors have been provided with updates by the Group’s
management, giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group's performance, position, recent developments and prospects in
sufficient details to keep them abreast of the Group’s affairs and facilitate
them to discharge their duties under the relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for directors’ liabilities in respect of potential
legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate activities of the
Group pursuant to Code Provision C.1.8 of the CG Code. Such directors’
liability insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no claim has been made against
the Directors.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The aim of the dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to the
Shareholders the funds surplus to the operating needs of the Group.
The distribution of dividend depends upon, among others, the financial
performance, future funding needs of the Company and the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.
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mazars

To the shareholders of
CHINA BAOLI TECHNOLOGIES HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of China
Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to 220,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance.

Independent Auditor’s Report
v

Mazars CPA LimiTeD
R ER (B US) ratimoms i A )

42nd Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
b TR T8 18 BEP IR IR 42 M
Tel &ih: (852) 2909 5555

Fax {5 (852) 2810 0032

Email FE: info@mazars.hk

Website #41k: www.mazars.hk
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
BY MRS (&)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

As stated in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$24,273,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
as of the date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$343,516,000 and the Group had net liabilities of
approximately HK$341,101,000. As at the same date, the Group's total
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$231,901,000, while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$7,363,000 only.
The circumstances and conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
operate as going concern.

As explained in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Directors on
a going concern basis, the validity of the going concern basis dependent
on the assumption that the Group would be successful in collecting the
receivables and obtaining sufficient future funding. Due to the uncertainty
of the Group’s ability to maintain adequate future cash flows, we were
unable to ascertain whether the assumptions made by the Directors in
preparing the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis
are proper and appropriate. These conditions indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

We were unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence regarding the use of
going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the going concern assumption is inappropriate,
adjustment may have to be made to reclassify all non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively, write-down the value
of assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide for further liabilities

which may arise.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED

WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED

WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because
of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

This report is made solely to you, as a body in accordance with section 90
of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume any responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 June 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Chan Chi Wai

Practising Certificate number: PO5708
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

ll‘/j_\ j:I:’ o / %

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EZ=Hf —E—-—
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
Kt aF FET FET
Revenue ON 7 53,598 74,552
Cost of revenue WA B AR (46,660) (59,190)
Gross profit E 6,938 15,362
Other income, gains and losses, net HAaug A - W ek M e 189 58 9 9,781 (3,872)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEHER (4,823) (6,476)
Administrative expenses THER (39,911) (37,282)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss EHEEEEEXTZ
model, net of reversal WEEE (NERBEE) 11 (128) (2,494)
Impairment loss on goodwill B ZREER 20 (47,878) =
Gain on extinguishment of financial liabilities HREmBERTE 29(a) 56,991 -
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BB AR LR A AR 2 W - 36,874
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR Z WK = 119,183
Share of losses of associates IR EEE R REE 22 (19) (206)
Finance costs BME KA 10 (10,956) (22,835)
(Loss) Profit before tax BRELA (BTHB) ER 13 (30,005) 98,254
Income tax expense FrEfHimx 12 (53) (1,503)
(Loss) Profit for the year AEE (BR)ER (30,058) 96,751
(Loss) Profit for the year attributable to: DTFALTEMKEE (FEB)EF:
— Owners of the Company e VYNEIE Z=N (24,273) 96,614
— Non-controlling interests — YRR (5,785) 137
(30,058) 96,751
(Restated)
(&)
(Loss) Earnings per share: SR (EB8)ERN:
Basic and diluted EAR#E HK$(0.37) HK$2.08
17 BT BT
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EZ=Hf —E—-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Loss) Profit for the year REE (FEB)ERN (30,058) 96,751
Other comprehensive income (loss) Hith2EKA (EBE)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to AEAENDHEZEm 2 HE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of REBIEBREFE ZERZTHE
foreign operations 4,206 (6,171)
Share of exchange reserve of associates DAEEE QN E 2 E R S (3)
Release of exchange reserve upon R B A RK IS ARE
deconsolidation of subsidiaries BRBRIE 5 1S - 7,101
Release of exchange reserve upon R E W B A R R BR IE R
disposal of subsidiaries - (7,778)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net AFEEEMEERA (FHE)
of income tax (BRAT1SFi18) 4,206 (6,851)
Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year AEEL2TE (FB) WABEE (25,852) 89,900
Total comprehensive (loss) income LT ALEEZ2E (E58)
attributable to: LON L B
— Owners of the Company . WNETE ¥ =N (20,336) 89,881
- Non-controlling interests —IEPE AR RE S (5,516) 19
(25,852) 89,900
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR &

At31 March 2023 R-EBE-_=F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=fF —F-_—

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B it FET FET

Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BB R 18 549 117
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 5,040 5,794
Goodwill kS 20 6,904 47,878
Intangible assets EEE 21 3,467 12,017
Interest in associates REERR 2= 22 248 267
16,208 66,073

Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 K EABRTE 23 40,048 47,625
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LKA 24 7,363 28,493
47,411 76,118
Current liabilities REBAE

Trade and other payables ERE S R HEMARIE 25 161,343 236,656
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 1,925 1,619
Contract liabilities aHEE 27 3,095 39,343
Tax payable FESTFRIR 3,090 3,090
Other borrowings HmEE 28 221,474 221,137
390,927 501,845
Net current liabilities RBEETFE (343,516) (425,727)
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBAE (327,308) (359,654)

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEasE 26 3,366 4,253
Liability component of convertible bonds AMRESBESRD 29 10,427 =
13,793 4,253
NET LIABILITIES SEEE (341,101) (363,907)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

SePBARRE (F)

At 31 March 2023 R-E-_=F=F=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=fF —E-—

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B it FET FET

Capital and reserves EXR®EE
Share capital A& A 37 7,260 5,883
Reserves & (336,909) (361,344)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR Al#EA AEGEZ (329,649) (355,461)
Non-controlling interests PR = (11,452) (8,446)
TOTAL DEFICIT B AL (341,101) (363,907)

These consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 220 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and
signed on its behalf by:

FSEEFENENBAVBERMER-ZE=ZF X
A=Z+tHEZESSHERTRETE IHUTAL
REEZE:

Chu Wei Ning
wEE
Director

EFE

Lam Sze Man
M
Director

EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEEARBER

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to the owner of the Company

KRAREAESE
Shares
Convertible held under
Capital bonds Contingent  share award Non-
Share Share ~ redemption Special ~ Contributed Other equity Shareoption  consideration  scheme  Exchange  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium Teserve reserve surplus reserve Teserve eserve reserve Teserve reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
RERHA
#mira
ax THRER g4 Rk

RE ROEE BEEE ROIRE BARR ABRR BRRE ERERE  RERE BE EXRE 2B i FERES 28
HS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00 HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS 000 HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'000
T TEr  TEr TEn ér  TEr  TAr  TEn Tz TAr TEx Fér  TEr  TEr  TEr

/No[e El (Note )~ (Notec) ~ (Note 29)
ga)  (WHb) (W) (K#n)

At1 April 2021 372,15 2,144,816 13,878 8176 684,966 47,448 - - 25,800 (16) 8894 (3915531) (539,413 (751) (540,164
Profit for the year REEEH - - - - - - - - - - - %614 96,614 137 %751
Other comprehensive loss for the year ~ AEERH2AEE
tems that may be reclassified subsequenty ~ EE TR 7 EZARZEE

to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation~ 8§ ERBEL 2 ERES

of foreign operations - - - - - - - - - - (60%3) - (60%3) (118 (617
Shate of exchange reserve of associates ABELAEAEE - - - - - - - - - - B - B © )
Release of exchange reserve upon RHBARKILEAAER

deconsoldation of subsidiaries FRENHE - - - - - - - - - AL - -
Release of exchange resenve upon disposal K EMBARBERE KR

of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (1178 - (1178 - (1118
Other comprehensive loss for the year, ~ AEEEH2EHE (RIFEHR)

net of income tax - - - = > = > = = - 673) - 63 My (68
Total comprehensive (loss) income REERE (BRI UALE

for the year - - - - - - - - - - (6,733) 96,614 89,881 19 89,900
Transactions with owners of the Company RAXFEHEAZZR
Capital reorganisation ERES (368,434) - - - 384 - - - - - - - - - -
Issue of share in respect of right isue RERETRE 1861 72570 - - - - - - - - - B ¥t B ¥t
Transaction costs attibutable toright issue BB R AR - B8 - - - - - - - - - - B8 - B683)
Placing of new shares EEHRHR 00 10,200 - - - - - - - - - - 10500 - 10500
Transaction costs attrioutable to placing of ~ EEFRREERAME

new shares = (418) = = - - - - - = = = (1) - (#1g)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based B EREENRA

payments RERZAR - - - - - - - 500 - - - - 550 - 550
Deemed disposal of equity interest of BEEMERKERSEL

subsidiaries without losing control HEAANME - - - - - s - - - - - - mean) -
Disposal of subsidiaries LENBAR - - - - - - - - - - - - b 7 7
Total transactions with owners BANTRAACRAAE

of the Company (366,273) 78,689 - - 368,434 1121 - 5,500 - - - - 94071 (7.714) 86,357
At 31 March 2022 R-E--%#=f=1-H 5883 2,223,505 13878 78176 1,053,400 55,169 - 5,500 25,800 (16) 2161 (3818917)  (355,461) (8,446)  (363,907)

v 4
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

GeEmSER (F)

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to the owner of the Company

AOREEARE
Shares
held under
Convertible share
Capital bonds Share  Contingent award Non-
Share Share redemption  Special Contributed Other equity  option consideration  scheme  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve  reserve  reserve losses ~ Subtotal interests Total
RERS
2Bitd
g% TRRES 3R FEkf
B& ROEE REEE RHBE HARR ABRE RERE BREEER  RERR 8% EXBE ZiHER Mt FEREE ag
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
1 TEn  TEn  TE% Fér  TErL  TEn  TER Fér  FEr  TER FEr  TEr TR TER
(Notea) ~ (Noteb)  (Notec) (Note 29)
(H#a)  (Kido) (Ko (K#)
At 1 April 2022 RZZZZERA-A 5883 2,223,505 13878 78176 1,053,400 55,169 - 5,500 25,800 (16) 2161 (3818917)  (355,461) (8,446)  (363,907)
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - - - (42m)  (a23)  (5785)  (30,058)
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEEH2AUA
tems that may be reclssified subsequenty  Ef TEHHEZEXEE:
to profit or loss:
Eichange differences arsing on translation B E BN EBEESZEREE
of foreign operations - - - - - - - - - - 3937 - 3,931 269 4,06
Other comprehensive income for the year, AEEZH2EMA (BFEH)
net of income tax - - - - - - - - - - 3,937 - 3,931 269 4,06
Total comprehensive income (loss) REERENA (BR)EE
for the year - - - - - - - - - - 3937 (4213)  (20336) (5516 (25852
Transactions with owners of RANIREALRE
the Company
Issue of shares in respect of share AROREEARD
subscription (Note 31(e)) (Hit31e) 1210 5759 - - - - - - - - - - 6,969 - 6,969
Issue of consideration shares (Vote 31(g)  ETTRERR (H: 167 25633 - - - - - - (25,800) - - - - -
Issue of convertible bonds (Nofe 29) BTABRES (Hi29) - - - - - B Y] - - - - - sm 547
Non-controlling interests acquired from BEBARKEZEERER
business combination (Note 36) (Hi#36) - - - - - - - - - - - - - (198) (198)
Disposal of equity interest of asubsidiary ~~ HE-FRKELHEL
without losing control (Note 37) HEARMBRE( - - - - - Bm - - - - - - 130 164 15326
Contributions from non-controling interests ~ FEf2FRig 8 1 & - - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,084 1,084
Total transactions with owners of BRNTRAALRALE
the Company 131 3139 - - - 13,702 25411 - (25,800) - - - 46,148 2510 48,658
At 31 March 2023 R=8-Z£=f=1-A 7260 2,254,897 13,878 78176 1,053,400 68,871 25411 5,500 - (16) 6,09  (3843190) (329,649)  (11452)  (341,101)
HEE DR ERERBRAR 202223 FERE 73
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

w/'_l'\

SEDEHXR (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

Notes:

(a)

(d)

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the
nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company in exchange
for the nominal amount of share capital of its subsidiaries acquired at
the date of the group reorganisation.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between
the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the subsidiaries at the date
on which they were acquired by the Company, and the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
group reorganisation; the cancellation of an amount of approximately
HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account of the Company
and the credit of an amount of approximately HK$610,247,000 of
the Company’s share capital cancelled in financial year 2001/2002;
the contribution of approximately HK$26,719,000 from the placing of
warrants in 2002 that had expired in 2003.

The contributed surplus also consists of an amount of approximately
HK$368,434,000 resulting from the Company’s capital reduction in
financial year 2021/2022. Details of the capital reduction are set out in
note 31 (a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for distribution.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(i) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.

The other reserve represented:

(i) Capital injection from an investor of HK$46,962,000 in relation to
the disposal of certain equity interest in a subsidiary not resulting
in the Group losing control over that subsidiary in the year ended
31 March 2018, in which the disposal had not yet been completed
at 31 March 2018.

On 19 March 2020, the Group and the investor entered into a
supplemental agreement pursuant to which the Group and the
investor agreed to extend the completion of the disposal to not
later than 18 March 2021. On 19 March 2021, the Group and the
investor entered into another supplemental agreement pursuant
to which the Group and the investor agreed to further extend the
completion of the disposal to not later than 18 March 2022. As
at 31 March 2023, the Group is still negotiating with the investor;
and

(ii) Transactions with non-controlling interests for the changes in the
Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary which do not result
in change in control as set out in note 3.3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company had no
reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2023
and 2022.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HE_-ZT—

T=F=ZA=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—Eg2-= — g
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
Kt &% FET FHET

OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETE
Cash used in operations KEEHFTRARS 38(a) (34,595) (52,656)
Tax paid [ e (53) (155)
Net cash used in operating activities RETFEHFABRESFHE (34,648) (52,811)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received 2 FIE - 495
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWMXE WEKEHE (141) (193)
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of B ARKIESRE AR

subsidiaries REemE F5E - (54)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR ZIRERAFE = 31
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries W EEHI B A BIFFEIR &R A FHE 599
Capital injection in associates REERRZEE - (476)
Net cash from (used in) investing activities REFEFRE (FTA)REFHE 458 (197)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Interest paid AT FE (1,425) (2,465)
New other borrowings raised ILEMES 2,030 39,456
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERTRAEMEE - (35,818)
Repayment of convertible loan EETRERER - (8,550)
Repayment of lease liabilities EREBEEAE (1,948) (2,244)
Advance from shareholders and directors, net RN EERFERE 226 1,076
Net proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BT RBRESF S RIEFE 11,945 =
Net proceeds from issue of shares in respect E’JEHXTJJ RBEITRD 2B

of share subscription RIBF R 6,969 =
Contributions from non-controlling interests EERERFE 1,084 =
Proceeds from issue of shares in respect of PR BEITIRD 2 1S RIE

rights issue - 74,431
Transaction costs attributable to rights issue HREEZ SR - (3,663)
Proceeds from placing of new shares Be & # R0 2 BT 5 5k I8 - 10,500
Transaction costs attributable to placing of Bl & #AR 0 FE (5 X 5 P AN

new shares = (418)
Net cash from financing activities MEFHFEEESFHE 38(b) 18,881 72,305
Net (decrease) increase in cash and RekBALEHEER ORD)

cash equivalents 0 E 58 (15,309) 19,297
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F# ZR1T& % KIR© 28,493 10,063
Effect on exchange rate changes EREH s & (5,821) (867)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year, FR2ESRESESEER

represented by bank balances and cash DRITEBRERERT 7,363 28,493
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

1.
2.
‘\ E N
o
ﬂ Z
> o

CORPORATION INFORMATION

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Suites 3706-3708, 37/F, Dah
Sing Financial Centre, 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company
collectively referred to as the “Group”) are multi-media technologies
and convergence media business, gamma ray DGDB Business and
other operations — investment, securities trading and tourism and
hospitality business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements is historical cost.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2022 and relevant to the Group
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

Annual Improvements Project 2018-2020 Cycle

ARER
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DRABRETMK L2 EREBR ARG
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

2.1

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 16: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments clarify the accounting requirements for
proceeds received by an entity from selling items produced
while testing an item of property, plant or equipment before
it is used for its intended purpose. An entity recognises the
proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those
items, in profit or loss and measures the cost of those items
applying the measurement requirements of HKAS 2.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of
fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly
to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(for example, direct labour and materials) and an allocation
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for
example, an allocation of the depreciation charge for an
item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the

contract).

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
2018. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception
to its requirement for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a
liability. The exception specifies that, for some types of
liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity applying HKFRS
3 should instead refer to HKAS 37. The exception has been
added to avoid an unintended consequence of updating the

reference.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR ()

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BERHIT RETEEHKBREEL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (continued) (EBMBEREEA]) (&)
2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for 21 RAFERHERNEBMERSEER

the current year (continued)
Annual Improvements Project - 2018-2020 Cycle

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for Derecognition of
Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the purpose of performing
the “10 per cent test” for derecognition of financial liabilities
— in determining those fees paid net of fees received, a
borrower includes only fees paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements. As currently
drafted, Example 13 is not clear as to why such payments are
not a lease incentive.

HKAS 41: Taxation in Fair Value Measurements

This amendment removes the requirement to exclude cash
flows for taxation when measuring fair value, thereby aligning
the fair value measurement requirements in HKAS 41 with
those in HKFRS 13.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

2.2

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction’

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFR 17

and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will
have any material impact on the results and financial position
of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEAUNBBRFHREERTIESITHE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements 31 HRENBEBRRGEREE

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs,
which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. For the purpose of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Companies Ordinance (“CQO"). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with
the accounting policies adopted in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group as detailed in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

HE-_Z-_=F=ZA=1+—RHLFEHK
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Al BEGER ([HEEGFTE]) R
ZE) BELAREHRAIGE -HFER
GEMBHREMS WA AEEHER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HRAUMBBRREHREERTIEIFTEER

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)

(continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements 31 REMBHRRGHEE(H)
(continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset ANEBEAMSE2EE  HMEFEHET
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between EFRGEREHEEERMEIHELE
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of BEENER MTwmZEREEE
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using REBESNAEMEERM G R
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value HHEEXBBECLATER AEEE
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the ERMBLEECHERRAZEAELE
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants EFEERZEILFB ERERAMB
would take those characteristics into account when pricing HEPHER LBFEEZAFEHRL
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for EEETF WEBUBREENFE2R
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated LR AER 2N REBAN ARG A
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except EMzNRRG REBBEVBEREE
for share-based payment transactions that are within the A1 ARCEHER S UREAF
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions BEUELIFAFEZITE (FIHEE
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and B EAE2RFEP 2 #RFAEL
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but BB ENFEIREEREBEFTZFR
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 BE)BRI -

Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value BRATEXRSz2e@MIT A LREEH
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to RERAUTABER 2B ASBAERT
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the BZEERM HERMETRIE XK
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition BRI HERFHERM2ERERR
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction R EH -

price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value N M BREMST A FEFEE

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on RAFEFEZH ABIRAEIIEE R

the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements ATEFECHASBHEER I EE

are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair MOoEAE B F_EBAE=ZFE F

value measurement in its entirety, which are described as (ERUNNE

follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active . FEHAHBAEENGEH
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity AREREERBERERMS
can access at the measurement date; Gz WmE (REHE)

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices . E_EH A \EBEAREEXAR
included within Level 1, that are observable for the EESHENERSLH 2®
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and ABE(ZE—EBEREEZHRER

Sh) &

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or . F-EBWASBREEXAGZ

liability. R BB A BUE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately HK$24,273,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2023 and as of the date, the Group's
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$343,516,000 and the Group had net liabilities of
approximately HK$341,101,000 as at 31 March 2023. As
at the same date, the Group’s total borrowings amounted
to approximately HK$231,901,000, while its cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$7,363,000
only. These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business. Notwithstanding the above,
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis as the Directors have given careful
consideration to the impact of the current and anticipated
future liquidity of the Group and are satisfied that:

(1) Actively seeking opportunities for fund-raising

The Group is actively seeking various fund-raising
opportunities, including but not limited to, placing
and rights issue, depending on the prevailing market
conditions and the development of the Group's core
businesses. In order to achieve the best interest of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole, the Group
will seek the professional’s advice from the financial
advisors and consultants in conducting these fund-
raising activities.

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Going concern (continued)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Discussion on loan capitalisation

One of the major contributing factors to improve
the Group's liquidity in the coming twelve months
is the implementation of loan capitalisation with
some creditors. Following the completion of the
issuance of convertible bonds to Yulong Computer
Telecommunication Scientific (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
(“Yulong Shenzhen”) in current financial year
with details set out in notes 29(a) and 33(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company has
reduced its net liabilities for the year ended 31 March
2023. Also, the management of the Company expects
these convertible bonds to Yulong Shenzhen will be
converted to the ordinary shares of the Company
upon maturity in accordance with the terms. The
management of the Company will continue to discuss
with other creditors on loan capitalisation or extending
the terms of loans and is confident that more creditors
will agree to the loan capitalisation plans in the coming
financial year. Completion of the loan capitalisation
will be subject to, amongst others, the grant of listing
approval of the issue of new shares by the Stock
Exchange and approval by the Shareholders.

Actively seeking opportunities for debt or equity
financing

The Group will continue to approach various financial
institutions to explore further possibility of debt or
equity financing to lengthen its repayment period
and lower its finance costs and to improve its capital

structure.

Developing successful business strategies for its
multi-media technologies and convergence media
business segment

The Group timely reviews its resources to strategically
utilize them in its core business segments. In response
to the post-pandemic and volatile economy, the Group
has put more focus on and allocated more resources
to its convergence media and e-commerce business
rather than its traditional multi-media business. The
diversification of its media business will enhance the
revenue of the Group in the coming financial year.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.2

Going concern (continued)

(5) Application of gamma ray dry grinding and
dry beneficiation technologies (the “DGDB
Technologies”) into iron and steel industries and
also diversifying into other profitable industries
The Group has continued to discuss and negotiate
with various iron ore or steel mill players on potential
cooperation opportunities for the development of this
business segment. The Group is also actively exploring
to apply its DGDB Technologies in other industries. It is
expected that higher investment in the iron ore DGDB
Business could improve the Group's profitability in

coming years.

Through fund-raising exercises and continuing the
abovementioned business strategies, the Directors believe
that the Group would be able to meet its financial obligations
and fulfill its operational needs while obtaining additional
financing resources in pursuing other businesses.

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast covering a
period up to 30 September 2024 on the basis that the Group's
aforementioned plans and measures will be successfully
implemented, and are satisfied that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due within the twelve months from 31
March 2023. Accordingly, the Directors consider that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, since the execution of the above
plans and measures is in progress, uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern would also depend on its
ability to generate adequate cash flows for its operation.

The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that would result from the failure of the Group to
obtain sufficient future funding. Should the Group be unable
to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to reduce the carrying amounts of the
assets of the Group to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
. has power over the investee;
J is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

3 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
fact and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtain
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the

non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
other reserve within equity and attributed to owners of the

Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of
the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9") or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an

investment in an associate or a joint venture.

~
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired
is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment
exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and
goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further assessment is
needed.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced
by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued
in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Optional concentration test (continued)

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and

3 lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Optional concentration test (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances

that existed at the acquisition date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or group of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEVKBRGHREERIEEHEE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued) FTEGHBE (&)
Goodwill (continued) BHE(E)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating
units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of
the associate and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if
that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

3 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

3 the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’'s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

The nature of the services provided by the Group is provision
of multi-media and advertising service. Service income of
multi-media and advertising service is recognised over time
as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Sale with a right of return/exchange
For a sale of products with a right of return/exchange for
dissimilar products, the Group recognises all of the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
(therefore, revenue would not be recognised for the

products expected to be returned/exchanged);
(b)  a refund liability/contract liability; and
(c) an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of

sales) for its right to recover products from customers
and are presented as right to returned goods asset.

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

3.

ma
(%&)

3.3

MBBRREREERTESFHEE

TEEHEE (&)
BEFEHWA (#)
BHEEEAEEREERTREANE
an 2k AR 75 U HR AR A B RO R R (1 R A
BEMGE) - RBBEEM B RELERF
SAT R E- R BURKEEASE
Y B AR (B A S fR (F A ) - B RFR A B
HBRENAI -

EHREEASRERND BEPIRIAKE
(HERHYIKE) MAREFPER
BEmREHEL-

A WIRBANANEERAGHNEE

=G
Tiﬁgﬁkﬁﬁzﬂ

AEEREORBUEE/REZEER
EERS - ZHERESREOREK
AF—%%WW%%*EIEEﬁE%
EXREAAEBRANTNE

BRI B RN SR 49K
#EHE

B2

72 IR 40 B £ 06 2 T 4R B 22 R O AT
£ MREEHBESBLEAREH
BES SRR O EERA QBT AR
8 T B BB AR5 0 L B A TR
ol B S LI

BRI 1 4 T KO B 40 1

ABRE/RBEMNNHEE
YR EFIRE TR E A 6 E
miHE  AEBEERAT SR

(@) BEEMHOEA ALEES
ERESHRKESE (R 1
@E@mﬁﬁi\% E@/X}%WEDDJ‘IQ
A

() BRAE EHNEE R
(© HREPWMEERSERN (A REH

SHE KA AR EAR) X ERR
BRENBEEZY-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=F=A=+—H

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature
of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of

the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of offices that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

3 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
J any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

3 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

3 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

3 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

3 amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

3 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

3 payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

3 the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

3 the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

3 the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains one or
more additional lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component. The associated non-lease components
are included in the respective lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$)
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at

using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each

the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling

interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income, gains and losses,
net”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting
from service cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

Equity settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
payment reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share-based payment
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share-based payment
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the
goods or services received, except where that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured
at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Equity settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

Share award

The Group also grants shares of the Company to employees
under its share award scheme, under which the awarded
shares are either newly issued or are purchased from the open
market. The net consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “Shares held
under share award scheme reserve” and deducted from
equity.

For the shares granted under the share award scheme, the
fair value of shares granted to employees is recognised as
share-based payment expenses with a corresponding increase
in share-based payment reserve within equity. The fair value
is based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on
grant date plus any directly attributable incremental costs.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the shares, the total fair
value of the shares is spread over the vesting period, taking
into account the probability that the shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of shares that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payment reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of shares
that vest with corresponding adjustment to the share-based

payment reserve.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees
upon vesting, the related acquisition cost of the awarded
shares vested are credited to the “Shares held under share
award scheme reserve”, and the grant date fair value of
the awarded shares vested are debited to the share-based
payment reserve. The difference between the related weighted
average acquisition cost and the grant date fair value of the
awarded shares vested is transferred to accumulated losses
directly.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_ZT_=F=A=+—

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR ()

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEVKBRGHREERIEEHEE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(continued)
Significant accounting policies (continued) FTEGHBE (&)
Taxation (continued) HE (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition of
the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used,
or proposed to be use by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in
the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Are B RS AR MY R

Year ended 31 March 2023 HE_-ZT—

(#%&)

T=F=ZA=+—HIEFE

REVBBERAEUEERTESHER

(#&)

3.3

ETEEHEE(F)

HE (k&)

BIE RORE TR IA RN IR iR s K A
REMEEPVARREZEBXEER
RmER AR AR B RRER
TR B R E At 2 TE U A AR B B R
BRER -HEAHEBAHETNES
FHEEMmAELS MR BIRERH A
MBREENBEBAFARTIEE
e

R EEE TS T 18 5 | e (TR R E 1
K- AEEEEERTEKELS AR
EETENSEEEREMSHERPE
A EREROTEEHREEIE WALt
A A EHBRECERIE-SRAMS
MERIMEEE TN - HE BRI
E§$—Iﬁb =X THREHRBEE  BIEA

e TEREAEARRESIET
%m&m%%o

W* BERRE

ME - BERRBLRHIELERMHRES
mEARBIIETRARZEREE Y
X MEEREBERAREERGTE
REBZRFTREEBR (MAB)RER M
BARRRFIER

AEBEBBME ARG EAEF
HAAEREMEEE Z RART HE
1B o A BN SIS B R T (a2
BEH RHBERNET L mEM
At S BB ARAEREAR

ME -BERREBERERLERLE#
BERAZEERA TG ELEFMARE
BN RER LR - BENE BER
RIBEB KA R MEMMEL 2 EM
WakERRZEE ZHEMSHAN
FRHERZZEETE UNBREER -

FEEOREERERAT 202223 FERE 107

&

9

y .



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR ()

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent

accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

3.

ma
(&)

3.3

MBBRREREERTESFHEE

TESHEE (&

BREE

BIWEZ BREE
BYWEMAEERIERFHZET
BEERAR R R RFHRE
BRI A BARAERFHZ B
BEZBERAEGHIERFHUE
ORTER - N BN & S BRI
FHAIGE PR H S 8H 07 0% - T AR (AT (A A
BEHEERRREREAR - BT
WEMAEAERAEAFHIEBILEE
BARABAE A E & REHRERBRIR -

REBEHUBZEVEE
REBEHERBZEBTLEEARNEDH
BR DR BERBERAZAFE RS
REKA) HER

RINEHERE REBAHREZETY
BEWEERAERFEHY DRA1TK
BrEPEE 2 BREEZRARRE
BHELEFARFAHREBR2®H NEH
BOTR AT R BT B E A &R A A
FH TR AR EMH % RFHRERER
Bl BR o

BVEERHERBHATSREARL
EEERREENGERRLER &1L
ERBNEEELE ZBRBRLEMER
RFERRAERANEZZENE RN
BERIFERSNBDER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Provisions (continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

3 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

3 the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

3 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income (“OCI"”) if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2023 HE_-ZT—

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial

asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost

or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
If the

credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument

financial asset from the next reporting period.

improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR ()

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. BAUBBRREHREERFTESHER
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(continued)
3.3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FESHBK(E
Financial instruments (continued) T@TH(E
Financial assets (continued) THEE (§)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being

measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other income, gains and losses, net” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and bills receivables, deposits, other receivables and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e R (&)

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss

allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in

which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment

of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on

significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.

(0)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR ()

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HRAUMBBRREHREERTIEIFTEER
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(continued)
3.3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FESHBK(E
Financial instruments (continued) T@TH(E
Financial assets (continued) THEE (&
Impairment of financial assets (continued) TREERE (&)
0) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) (i) FERBBEE LA (B)
. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, . TEHBEEHREBARBITHE

financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

i Technologies Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(0

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the
credit risk since initial recognition of financial guarantee
contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk
that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

e SRR ()

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. BAUBBRREHREERFTESHER
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (&)
(continued)
3.3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.3 FESHBK(E
Financial instruments (continued) T@TH(E
Financial assets (continued) THEE (§)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) TREERE (&)
(iiiy  Credit-impaired financial assets (il HIREEREZEMEE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would

not otherwise consider;
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written-
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2023 HE_-ZT—

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default,
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at

loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of

default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2023 HE_-ZT—

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation
for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the
Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution
and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified
as equity instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:

3 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

3 the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

3 it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL,
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of
that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
For financial liabilities that contain embedded derivatives,
the changes in fair value of the embedded derivatives are
excluded in determining the amount to be presented in other
comprehensive income. Changes in fair value attributable to
a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to accumulate
losses upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, lease
liabilities, other borrowings and liability component of
convertible bonds are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

3 the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

3 the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

3.3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Convertible bond

The component of the convertible bond that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in the
statement of consolidated financial position, net of issue
costs. The corresponding dividends on those shares are
charged as interest expense in profit or loss.

On the issue of the convertible bond, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using a market rate for a
similar bond that does not have a conversion option; and this
amount is carried as a current liability on the amortised cost
basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption.

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in the convertible
bond equity reserve within equity attributed to owners of
the Company, net of issue costs. The value of the conversion
option carried in equity is not changed in subsequent years.
When the conversion option is exercised, the balance of the
convertible bond equity reserve is transferred to share capital
or other appropriate reserve. When the conversion option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance remained
in the convertible bond equity reserve is transferred to
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bond based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are first recognised. Transaction costs that relate
to the issue of the convertible bond are allocated to the
liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation
of proceeds.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (continued)
Except for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform in which the Group applies the practical expedient,
when the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms result
in a substantial modification from original terms taking
into account all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received,
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as
part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial modification
when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of
the modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of
the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date
of modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZT_=—F=-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
3.3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Embedded derivatives
Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain
financial asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and
subsequently measured in its entirety as either amortised cost
or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are
not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated
as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a
derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single
instrument that are separated from the host contracts are
treated as a single compound embedded derivative unless
those derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are
readily separable and independent of each other.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3.3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

TEBEOMEERERAT  2022/23

E#®E 125
4//%%\\§»//////

REVBBERAEUEERTESHER
(%)

33 FESHEE(E
2HITA(E
EHEERRA (&)
MARPTETA
MABREERBUBRELRFRARE
ANEMEETRNNEAANNITE
TEATEBRE -BHREAHNTIU
DI BEREMIERBEHK AL AT
B(MERFE-

EBRAFTETAFANZITETA (I
BBV BERSEAFFRAEBEANS
MEE)VTAETAZES HAR
MEERIFANZAREEEL BT
MiE BXANTIEEBREBEREATE
AECRBMARNFETETAFEHZET
S TAEERBIITETARIE-

—RfEE-TARNZERATE
TERFAHNIH BRIFES<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>